JUDITH LEWIS-WALUNGA v. MUNICIPALITY OF ANCHORAGE
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	      FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

      AWCB Case No.  200403809
      AWCB Decision No.  08-0122  

      Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

      on June 30, 2008.


On April 1, 2008, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim for additional benefits, attorney’s fees, legal costs, penalties, and interest.  The Board also heard the claim of physician William Ross, D.C., for medical services provided to the employee.  Attorney William J. Soule represented the employee.  Dr. Ross represented himself.  Attorney Trena L. Heikes represented the self insured employer (employer).   At the end of the hearing, we held the record open for additional evidence, briefing, replies, objections and the employee’s supplemental affidavit of attorney’s fees and costs.  After further deliberations, the record closed when the Board next met on June 3, 2008. 

ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to additional total temporary disability (TTD) benefits under 
AS 23.30.185?

2.
Is the employee entitled to additional permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits under 
AS 23.30.190?

3.
Is the employee entitled to additional medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a)?

4.
Is Dr. Ross entitled to additional payment for medical services provided to the employee under AS 23.30.095(a)?

5.
Is the employee entitled to penalties under AS 23.30.155(e)?

6.
Is the employee entitled to interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142?

7.
Shall the Board approve payment of additional attorney’s fees and costs under 
AS 23.30.145?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. HISTORY OF THE CASE

The employee, when she was 59 years old, was injured when she slipped and fell to the ground while walking across the employer’s parking lot on March 31, 2004.  Many issues in this matter were resolved by the employer’s voluntary payment of benefits.   The remaining issues, involving the employee’s entitlement to additional benefits are currently before us and the recitation of the facts is limited to those relevant to these remaining issues.

A.  Pre-2004 injury history

On December 12, 1988, the employee reported injuries to her back, shoulder, leg and head from a slip and fall as she was entering her workplace at Pictures, Inc.
  The employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim (WCC) for back sprain
 and in early 1989 left her employment with Pictures, Inc., because of the injuries.

The employee began working for the Municipality of Anchorage on April 1, 1989.  In her Application for Employment she failed to list her employment with Pictures, Inc.
  In her Pre-employment Health Questionnaire she failed to reveal she had previously received workers’ compensation benefits as a result of the December 12, 1988 occupational injury.

During 2003, the employer planned to eliminate some positions at the Building Safety Department where the employee worked.  The employee was offered the opportunity to transfer to another job with the employer rather than be laid off, as she was a senior employee.  On December 2, 2003, the employee was transferred to Anchorage Water and Wastewater Utility (AWWU) into an Account Representative position.
  The employee’s union, Alaska Municipal Employees’ Association (AMEA), contended that the planned layoffs violated the collective bargaining agreement and the employee’s transfer became the subject of a union grievance and arbitration on behalf of the employee.

The employee was to serve 520 hours of probation in her new AWWU position.  On February 6, 2004, AWWU requested a three week extension of the employee’s probationary period due to “less than satisfactory” performance in her new job.  The employee’s probationary period was extended through March 30, 2004.
  On March 16, 2004, the employee received a letter from her supervisor notifying the employee that she was not meeting the standards for her position, that her probation was extended to April 8, 2004, and that she would receive a performance evaluation on or about April 6, 2004.  The letter further stated that if her overall performance was not satisfactory by “the above date” she would be terminated.
  The hearing testimony of Ms. Griffith and Ms. Clarke did not clearly establish a date certain on which the employee would have been terminated.

B. The injury and post-injury history

On March 31, 2004, while returning from a grievance meeting, the employee slipped and fell in the AWWU parking lot.
  She remained on the ground and an ambulance was called.  The employee contends she lost consciousness for some period of time.
  Witness reports indicate she “responded immediately with their initial contact”.
  The employee reported right side neck, shoulder, and knee pain and was transported to Providence Alaska Medical Center (Providence).

At the Providence emergency room, Stephen J. Parker, M.D., noted the employee was a 59 year old who slipped and fell backward on ice, landing on her right hip, shoulder and back.  The employee reported she struck the back of her head on the ground and believed she had brief loss of consciousness.  She complained of back, right hip, right knee, right shoulder, and back of the head pain.  Dr. Parker noted, “She is alert, oriented, calm, and cooperative with history and physical examination, and does not appear in acute distress.”
  X-rays of the employee’s right knee, right hip, neck and spine did not indicate injury, but some degenerative disk disease was noted.
 A CT scan
 of the employee’s head was normal.
  The employee was discharged to home.

The employee was treated by William Ross, D.C.,
 on April 1, 2004, who released her from work.
  The employee continued chiropractic treatment with Dr. Ross and on April 5, 2004, he prepared an Amended Treatment Plan calling for four treatments that exceeded the frequency standards.
  On April 21, 2004, the employee received a Physician’s Report from Dr. Ross dated April 16, 2004, describing treatment as five times a week for the first two weeks and thereafter three times a week until the employee reached 50 percent improvement.
  On April 23, 2004, Dr. Ross prepared a Physician’s Report referencing his April 5, 2004 Amended Treatment Plan;  he  estimated an additional six weeks of treatment was necessary to return the employee to pre-injury status.
  Dr. Ross continued to treat the employee and filed regular Physician’s Reports, which contained the same description of the frequency of treatment with updates noting the employee was not capable of returning to work.  Dr. Ross’ Physician’s Reports, beginning with his April 23, 2004 report, included the following statements in the various designated boxes:

18. Describe Complaints: Back right shoulder, upper body, neck, head, right knee lower back.

20. Diagnosis: See attachment.

25. Estimate Length of Treatment: 6-8 weeks.

32. Estimate Length of Disability in Days: 8-14.

34. Describe Treatment (and/or Attach Chart Notes): Ultra Sound/High Volt Galvanism to the low Cx, THX, Lx spine followed by activator adjustments five times a week for the first 2 weeks there after 3x week till 50% improved.  Pt is still very tender through out [sic] spine.  I am waiting for images taken 3/31/04 before sending her out for further imaging. As of 4/14/04 initial MRI report of Cx spine reveals stenosis which could account for upper extremiting [sic] symptoms.  Complete MRI as of 4/21/04 leveled [sic] extensive herniated disc problems with the Cx spine which undoubtedly account for much of the radiculopathy into the upper extremities. SEE BACK OF SHEET.

During subsequent months Dr. Ross modified some of this information in his physician’s reports to increase the estimated length of treatment and disability, but the treatment description remained the same.  He additionally added visit specific information on a separate attachment to his reports.
  Beginning with his June 4, 2004 report, Dr. Ross’ Physician’s Reports included the following statement regarding the diagnosis in box 20, “Acute sprain/strain of low back and Lx spine; Cervical IVD; myelopathy; knee strain/strain.”  This diagnosis never changed in his subsequent physician’s reports. 

While she was released from work for her March 31, 2004 injury, the employee was reassigned to the Health and Human Services Department (HHS) and placed in a Senior Office Assistant position.
  The employee never worked in the HHS position.  She was on a combination of TTD, annual sick leave, Family Medical Leave, medical leave and leave without pay until she was terminated on April 29, 2005.
  

On June 1, 2004, the employee saw Edward J. Barrington, D.C., on referral from Dr. Ross.  The employee reported to Dr. Barrington she may have been unconscious for 45 minutes due to her March 31, 2004 fall.  Dr. Barrington performed a neurological examination and opined the employee’s cranial examination was surprisingly unremarkable due to the employee’s perceived length of time she was unconscious.  He noted that, objectively, her cervical spine symptoms seemed to be supported by the MRI.  He recommended additional testing and consideration of rehabilitative reconditioning.

Dr. Barrington performed nerve connection (NCS) and EMG
 studies of the employee’s upper extremities on June 9, 2004.  His impression was left elbow ulnar nerve entrapment, right median crush injury and right mild C6 radiculopathy.  He noted the employee was having right knee instability and that her injury activated an L4 spondylolisthesis.

On June 10, 2004, the employee saw orthopedist Jeffery S. Moore, M.D., on referral from Dr. Ross.  The employee reported to Dr. Moore that she was knocked unconscious for approximately 45 minutes.  His impression was possible right knee lateral meniscus tear with mild patellofemoral arthrosis and he recommended an arthroscopic procedure.

The employer initially accepted the employee’s injury as compensable and paid TTD and medical benefits.  On June 25, 2004, at the employer’s request, the employee was evaluated by orthopedic surgeon Mark Leadbetter, M.D., and neurosurgeon Paul Williams, M.D.  Drs. Leadbetter and Williams reported preexisting conditions in the employee’s cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine, shoulder, and knee.  They found no evidence of an injury related to the employee’s March 31, 2004 slip and fall.  Drs. Leadbetter and Williams opined the employee was medically stable, required no further formal treatment, had recovered from her March 31, 2004 injuries, and could return to her regular work duties without restriction.  They opined she had no PPI related to the March 31, 2004 slip and fall.

On July 6, 2004, Eric Maurer, M.D., interpreted an MRI study of the employee’s spine, shoulder, and knee to indicate: 1. Diffuse tendinopathy involving the entire supraspinatus tendon with a high grade anterior bursal surface tear at the insertion point on the greater tuberosity and a partial articular surface tear approximately one centimeter form the insertion point of the supraspinatus tendon. 2. Small joint effusion and a tiny amount of fluid within the subacromial subdeltoid bursa. 3. Inferior hooking of the acromion with associated subacromial spurring and spurring of the AC joint. 4. Moderate to severe AC joint arthropathy.

The employer controverted the employee’s claim on July 15, 2004, based on the reports of Drs. Leadbetter and Williams that the employee was medically stable and had recovered from her March 31, 2004 injuries.
  Dr. Ross’ second Amended Treatment Plan of July 16, 2004, was received by the employer on July 20, 2004.  It explained the employee had multiple injuries, required more than three treatments per week, and Dr. Ross proposed “one extra day per week.”  It included no explanation of how long the extra days of treatment would last, what the treatment objectives were, nor the recommended modalities of treatment.
  

On July 21, 2004, Dr. Ross prepared a Physician’s Report indicating the employee would be off work for five months.  All of Dr. Ross’ subsequent Physician’s Reports included this same information.  The employee filed a WCC on July 21, 2004, seeking ongoing TTD from July 15, 2004, medical benefits, PPI, and she requested a SIME.
  On August 10, 2004, Dr. Moore performed surgery to repair a meniscus tear in the employee’s right knee.
  On August 16, 2004, the employer filed an Answer denying all the employee’s claims.
  The employee filed an amended WCC on August 17, 2004, seeking ongoing TTD from July 16, 2004, medical benefits, PPI when rated, re-employment benefits, interest, attorney’s fees and costs, and requested a SIME.
  
The employee saw Paul L. Craig, Ph.D., on August 24 and 25, 2004, for a neuropsychological evaluation.  The employee reported to Dr. Craig that she believed she lost consciousness for 45 minutes after her March 31, 2004 fall.  Based on his testing, Dr. Craig opined the employee suffered some mental impairment from the March 31, 2004 injury.
 

Dr. Ross continued to treat the employee and commencing on April 1, 2004, he provided the employee with a series of “Disability Certificates” releasing her from work through August 30, 2004.
  Dr. Ross also continued to file Physician’s Reports in which he checked a box indicating the employee was unable to return to work and estimating the length of her disability at five months.  These Physician’s Reports included reports for August 11, 18, and 26; September 1, 9, and 21; and October 7, 2004, covering the time period the employee claims for additional TTD benefits.
  

On September 8, 2004, Dr. Moore explained the employee suffered from bilateral shoulder rotator cuff tears, was going to require multiple additional surgeries and would need to be off work for “at least six to nine months of time frame of either no work or desk type work activities only” with limitations on lifting activities.
  The employer answered the employee’s amended WCC on September 10, 2004, denying all the employee’s claims and asserting the affirmative defense that the employee suffered a temporary aggravation to a preexisting injury.
  

A videotaped deposition of the employee was taken by the employer on October 11, 2004.
  During her deposition, the employee testified “the ambulance people” told her she was unconscious for about 45 minutes.
  The employee stated she learned of her transfer to HHS three or four weeks after her March 31, 2004 injury,
 but that she could not return to work, in her new position at HHS, because her arms, shoulders, and head hurt too badly.  She testified she could not return to work even part-time until her physician released her to do so.
  She additionally testified she could not work because of the pain she was suffering.
  

Dr. Moore performed surgery on October 12, 2004, to repair a rotator cuff tear in the employee’s right shoulder.  After an initial attempt at an arthroscopic procedure, an open procedure was performed.  The procedures performed, all on the right shoulder, were open repair of the rotator cuff, open acromioplasty, open distal clavicle excision and arthroscopy.  In addition to repair of a “U-shaped tear of the rotator cuff,” degenerative disease that was discovered in the AC joint was also surgically treated.
  On November 23, 2004, Dr. Moore advised the employee to continue wearing her right arm in a sling for another month and to then begin formal physical therapy,
 which she did on December 28, 2004.

On January 18, 2005, the employee saw orthopedist Sanford Lazar, M.D., for a SIME.  Dr. Lazar noted the employee reported being unconscious for about four or five minutes following her March 31, 2004 fall.  Dr. Lazar opined the March 31, 2004 injury aggravated pre-existing conditions in the employee’s neck, right shoulder and right knee, the employee was not medically stable, was totally disabled from performance of any full-time work, and that the March 31, 2004 injury was a substantial factor/major cause of her condition.  He opined the employee should begin an aggressive physical therapy program and that she might be able to return to work part-time by June 5, 2005.
 

The employee saw neurologist Jonathan A. Schleimer, M.D., for a SIME on February 3, 2005.  Dr. Schleimer opined the employee sustained at most a Grade I concussion neurologically as a result of her March 31, 2004 fall.  He opined the fall was a substantial factor in aggravating pre-existing conditions, causing a permanent aggravation of existing cervical spondlylosis, and rendering it symptomatic.  He opined her head and neck symptoms were not medically stable.  Dr. Schleimer did not believe additional chiropractic care would benefit the employee.  He recommended anti-headache medications, an orthopedic assessment, and physical therapy.  Dr. Schleimer opined the employee had no need for surgery for her neck or cervical spine condition.  He estimated she could reach medical stability in three to six months.  He deferred orthopedic issues to Dr. Lazar.

On February 22, 2005, Dr. Ross provided the employee with a Disability Certificate releasing her from work until March 14, 2005.
  Dr. Moore performed surgery to repair a rotator cuff tear in the employee’s left shoulder on March 14, 2005, this procedure also revealed left shoulder AC joint arthritis.  She underwent arthroscopy, left shoulder arthroscopic acromioplasty, open distal clavicle excision and arthroscopic supra-labral debridement.
  

Dr. Moore predicted on April 26, 2005, that the employee would need to be off work for an additional four weeks for recovery from the left shoulder surgery.
  On May 5, 2005, Dr. Ross predicted the employee could return to four hours a day of work by May 23, 2005.
  However, Dr. Ross continued to file Physician’s Reports through February 9, 2006, indicating the employee could not return to work.
  On May 20, 2005, Dr. Moore, released the employee to return to limited duty work on May 31, 2005, until further notice.
  Dr. Moore continued the employee’s limited duty work release with limited lifting on July 5, 2005.
  

Arbitrator Jonathan S. Monat, Ph.D., issued an Arbitrator’s Opinion and Award in the employee’s grievance arbitration with the employer dated August 7, 2005.
  The Arbitrator found the employee had been wrongfully terminated from her HHS position on April 29, 2005, and ordered her reinstatement and that she be made whole.  Without explanation or comment the arbitrator stated the employee completed her probationary period at AWWU on March 30, 2004, the day before her injury.

On September 6, 2005, Dr. Moore noted the employee had made slow progress recovering from surgery and should continue with physical therapy.  Dr. Moore continued the employee’s limited duty work release with limited lifting.

On referral from Dr. Ross, Dr. Barrington, on December 5, 2005, assessed a 21 per cent whole person PPI rating of the employee as a result of her March 31, 2004 fall.  He based his rating on no PPI for the right knee, 6 percent for her right shoulder, 7 percent for her left shoulder, 5 per cent for cervical impairment, and 5 percent for thoracic spine for a total of 21 percent whole person impairment.
  Dr. Barrington did not attribute any PPI for the open distal clavicle excision arthroplasty or shoulder acromioplasty of either shoulder.

On December 8, 2005, at the employer’s request, the employee saw Eugene E. Klecan, III, M.D., for a psychiatric evaluation.  Based on his testing, Dr. Klecan opined the employee did not suffer any cognitive dysfunction as a result of her 3/31/04 injury, had no mental disorder, and needed no treatment.  He opined the employee had a tendency to histrionics and symptom magnification and that the March 2004 incident did not aggravate anything to do with her brain or her mental status.  Dr. Klecan additionally noted: “This examinee very evidently was embellishing and at times seemed to be manipulating her mental status responses today.  I must presume she is capable of doing so in other venues.”
  

Also on December 8, 2005, at the employer’s request, the employee again saw Drs. Leadbetter and Williams who revised their June 25, 2004 evaluation and agreed with SIME physicians Dr. Lazar and Schleimer that the employee’s March 31, 2004 injury caused her pre-existing conditions to become symptomatic.  Drs. Leadbetter and Williams opined that the employee incurred a 1 percent whole person PPI rating as a result of injury to her lower extremity from her March 31, 2004 fall, but noted she would also have some additional impairment regarding her shoulder conditions when they reached medical stability.
  

Dr. Moore, on December 20, 2005, noted the employee had some discomfort in the left shoulder, but showed excellent range of motion.  He planned no further surgery and noted the employee was only to return if needed.
  On February 8, 2006, the employee saw Dr. Ross for the final time.  Dr. Ross’ February 9, 2006 Physician’s Report indicates the employee was released from work and estimated the length of her disability at five months; the same as all his Physician’s Reports since July 21, 2004.  Dr. Ross’ February 8, 2006 chart note indicates the employee’s physical therapy was focusing on her left shoulder, she still has a cognitive deficit, her neck hurt, she was still experiencing daily headaches, her back gets irritated if she lifts over ten pounds, and she is experiencing hearing loss.
  

On June 16, 2006, Dr. Leadbetter and Dr. Williams responded separately to a request from the employer to assess a PPI rating of the employee.  Dr. Leadbetter stated he was unable to assess PPI based on other provider’s evaluations and declined to do so.
  Dr. Williams opined a 13 percent whole person PPI rating consisting of 4 percent right shoulder, 8 percent left shoulder, 0 percent head, and 1 percent right knee.
  Dr. Williams did not attribute any PPI for the open distal clavicle excision shoulder or shoulder acromioplasty.  Based on the revised opinion of Drs. Leadbetter and Williams, on July 10, 2006, the employer resumed paying some benefits, including TTD, retroactively.
  

A prehearing conference was held on October 2, 2006, and the issues were identified as TTD, PPI, medical costs, reemployment benefits, interest and attorney’s fees and costs.
  On October 9, 2006, the employee filed an objection and request for modification of the Prehearing Conference Summary.  The employee requested that “reemployment benefits” be removed from the list of pending issues because she was not aware of any prediction by a physician that she could not return to her occupation at the time of injury.

The employer on December 13, 2006, accepted liability for the employee’s claim for injuries to her right and left shoulder and right knee.  The employer maintained a controversion of PPI in excess of 13 percent and any claim of injury to cognitive function.
  At the next prehearing conference on December 18, 2006, the issues were identified as TTD from September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004, PPI in excess of 13 percent, medical costs, interest, penalty on balance of PPI and attorney’s fees and costs.  The Prehearing Conference Summary stated that these issues were amended at the December 18, 2006 prehearing.
  The December 27, 2006 Compensation Report indicates the employer paid the 13 percent PPI benefit and stated “balance of PPI has been paid in a lump sum as Claimant’s Attorney advised us that she is no longer interested in seeking vocational retraining.”

On January 30, 2007, Dr. Moore wrote a letter stating: “On reviewing the notes, the patient was unable to return to work during the interim from her knee surgery until her shoulder surgery.”  Dr. Moore explained that while this was not the normal recovery period for a knee arthroscopy, in light of the rotator cuff tear, the employee was unable to return to work in any capacity.

The employee’s attorney filed Affidavits of Fees and Costs on February 21, 2007 and March 27, 2008.  Arbitrator Monat, issued another Opinion and Award in the employee’s grievance arbitration with the employer on April 13, 2007.  In this decision the employee was awarded $51,276.27 in back pay.
  

At the employer’s request, the employee was evaluated by neuropsychologist Laurence M. Binder, Ph.D., on May 21, 2007.  Dr. Binder opined the employee’s motivation during testing was intermittently impaired, suboptimal overall, and inconsistent.  Dr. Binder opined the employee’s neuropsychological status was normal, she had no mental disorder, needed no treatment, suffered no cognitive dysfunction as a result of the March 31, 2004 injury, and was medically stable from a neuropsychological perspective as of June 1, 2004.

On July 2, 2007, Dr. Ross filed a provider’s WCC for payment of $18,860.00 for services provided to the employee, plus interest.
  On August 2, 2007, the employer filed a controversion notice against Dr. Ross’ WCC asserting all medical costs had been paid according to the Act.

At his September 25, 2007 deposition, Dr. Craig modified his August 2004 finding of mental dysfunction to “very mild to mild cognitive impairment.”  He indicated based on the tests conducted by Dr. Binder, that the employee’s performance had declined and Dr. Craig could not attribute the decline to the employee’s head injury.
  

At a Prehearing Conference held on November 19, 2007, the employee withdrew her request for a neuropsychiatric SIME and withdrew any claim for brain injury.  The employer lifted its controversion of the employee’s claims for TTD, except for the period September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004.  The remaining issues were identified as PPI in excess of 13 percent, medical costs above and beyond frequency standards, interest, penalty on balance of PPI, and attorney’s fees and costs.
  On December 4, 2007, the employer’s counsel filed a letter requesting the November 19, 2007 Prehearing Conference Summary be amended to indicate the employer has paid all outstanding medical expenses that did not exceed the frequency standards.  Additionally, the employer requested that the prehearing summary reflect its objection to the employee’s counsel participation in Dr. Ross’ claim, as employee’s counsel does not represent Dr. Ross and that there is no basis to award attorney’s fees should Dr. Ross prevail in his claim.

On January 25, 2008, SIME physician Fred Blackwell, M.D., assessed a PPI rating of 33 percent whole person.  This rating was based on 5 percent cervical, 5 percent lumbar spine, 1 percent pain, 1 percent right knee, and 24 percent shoulders and upper extremities, which included 10 percent for the open distal clavicle excision arthroplasty or shoulder acromioplasty.  Dr. Blackwell opined the employee’s preexisting degenerative joint disease played a substantial role in her ongoing pain complaints.  He opined however, there was no way to reduce the current PPI rating by her prior conditions except by speculation. Dr. Blackwell noted the employee has a tendency towards symptom magnification and that he took that into account in assessing her PPI rating.
  On February 15, 2008, Dr. Blackwell responded to a February 12, 2008 request for clarification from the employee.  Dr. Blackwell corrected several minor errors in his calculations, but they did not make a difference in his final 33 percent whole person PPI rating.  He explained that adding the 1 per cent for pain to the 10 percent for spine is 11 percent, and that when the 24 percent for shoulders is added, it is equivalent to a 32 percent whole person impairment, to which he added 1 percent for the right knee, arriving at a total of 33 percent whole person impairment.

The employer filed an objection to certain medical records on February 19, 2008.  On March 13, 2008, the employer filed a controversion notice against Dr. Blackwell’s 33 percent PPI rating based on Dr. Williams’ 13 percent PPI rating.
  

The deposition of Dr. Leadbetter was taken on March 24, 2008.  He testified that the open distal clavicle excision and shoulder acromioplasty shoulder surgeries addressed preexisting conditions and were not related to the workplace injury.
  He opined the employee’s preexisting conditions were aggravated and made symptomatic by her March 31, 2004 slip and fall.
  Dr. Leadbetter opined the AMA Guides allow discretion in determining if preexisting conditions should be included in PPI ratings.
  He testified that the frequency of treatment standards were reasonable for the employee’s injuries.

On March 25, 2008, the deposition of Dr. Blackwell was taken.  He testified that many of the employee’s left shoulder issues were preexisting including the cyst, the inferior hooking on the acromion, the subacromial spurring, spurring of the AC joint, and the AC joint arthropathy.  He testified the employee’s right shoulder issues, with the exception of the rotator cuff tear, were also preexisting.  Dr. Blackwell testified that the open distal clavicle excision arthroplasty and shoulder acromioplasty surgery performed on both shoulders were optional procedures to prevent further degeneration or tears in the AC joint.  However, while not necessitated by the workplace injury, he testified the existing pathology was rendered symptomatic by the injury and so was appropriate to include in his PPI rating.
  Dr. Blackwell testified that to his knowledge there is no guidance in the AMA Guides to rate asymptomatic prior degenerative conditions.
  Dr. Blackwell revised his PPI rating to 32 percent with the deletion of the one percent he originally assessed for the thoracic spine.

The employee’s attorney filed the first of a series of Supplemental Affidavits of Fees and Costs on April 1, 2008.  On April 10, 2008, Dr. Ross filed a corrected itemized statement of his billings for medical services to the employee dated April 7, 2008.  The employer, the employee, and Dr. Ross filed written post hearing briefs on April 16, 2008.  Also on April 16, 2008, the employer filed an Objection to Additional Charges submitted by Dr. Ross.  Additionally, on April 16, 2008, the employer filed a letter it sent to the employee representing that it had or was paying all remaining out-of-pocket medical expenses incurred by the employee with the exception of Dr. Ross’ billings.
  Further, on April 16, 2008, the employer filed an Opposition to the employee’s affidavit of fees and costs contesting 33 specific billings, asserting that charges related to the neuropsychological issues should be excluded and requesting we reduce any award of employee’s attorney’s fees based on what issues, if any, upon which the employee prevails.  On April 17, 2008, the employee filed a Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs.  On April 18, 2008, Dr. Ross filed a response to the employer’s objection to his claim for additional charges.  
On May 1, 2008, the employee filed a Reply to the employer’s objection to additional charges submitted by Dr. Ross.  Also on May 1, 2008, the employee filed an objection to Exhibit P to the employer’s closing brief and a Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs.  On May 6, 2008, the employee filed a Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs.  

On May 7, 2008, the employee filed a Reply to the employer’s April 16, 2008 opposition and a petition to allow this same reply.  The employee maintained that charges related to the neuropsychological issues had not been included in the affidavits.  The employee asserted that “many of the referenced documents are not available to the board for review so that the board can make its own determination because they were not of the type normally filed with the board or in some cases were not documents at all.”  The employee then proceeded to specifically address 33 of the contested billings in addition to general arguments in favor of her claim for attorney’s fees.  

On May 8, 2008, the employer filed a Reply to the employee’s objection to Exhibit P to the employer’s closing brief.  On May 29, 2008, the employer filed a Response to Petition to Consider Reply to the Opposition to Fees and Costs and asserted that only statutory minimum attorney’s fees should be awarded to the employee.

II. TESTIMONY AT HEARING

A. Judith Lewis-Walunga

The employee testified at the April 1, 2008 hearing about how her March 31, 2004 injury occurred.  She was returning from a downtown meeting when she slipped and fell on ice in the employer’s parking lot.  She testified she hit her head on a curb and lost consciousness for an unspecified length of time.  She remained on the ground until an ambulance arrived and transported her to Providence Medical Center.
 

The employee testified that it had been about 15 years since she had seen a physician for any medical problems similar to those she experienced after her March 31, 2004 fall.
  She testified she saw Dr. Ross the day after her fall and believes the surgeries she received were needed because of her March 31, 2004 injuries.
  She testified that from September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004 she could not work.  She testified that Dr. Ross and Dr. Moore both took her off work during this period.
  She testified that the employer did not offer her light duty work during this period.

The employee testified that she was 59 years old on March 31, 2004, and that her subsequent knee injury caused problems with her spine.  She testified that Dr. Ross treated her neck, right shoulder, and spine.  She testified his treatments improved her condition, but that he also referred her for surgery.
  She testified she had right shoulder surgery on October 12, 2004, and that her right arm was in a sling after the surgery.  She explained she is right handed and the increased use of her left arm caused it to become symptomatic and she then had left shoulder surgery.
  The employee then testified as to medical bills she had paid.
  

The employee testified she was returning from a grievance meeting on March 31, 2004, when she was injured.  She testified she lost consciousness when she was injured.  When asked what her basis was for telling Dr. Craig she was unconscious for 45 minutes, she responded: “That’s what I was told.”  She did not identify who told her this information.  The employee testified she disputes the statement in the paramedic report indicating she was conscious when the ambulance arrived.
  The employee testified she did not contact the employer regarding light duty or desk work in September 2004.
  The employee testified she can return to work at this time.
  

The employer went over multiple personnel records regarding the employee’s status at AWWU prior to her injury.  When asked if she had completed her probationary period at AWWU on March 31, 2004, a disagreement occurred between the employer’s counsel and the employee’s counsel regarding the significance of various arbitrator decisions regarding the employee’s status.  The employer contended the employee, at the time of her injury, believed she was going to be terminated on April 8, 2004, and the employee testified she believed otherwise based on information provided her by her union.
  The employee contented she started at AWWU as an account representative, but prior to her completion of probation for that position was changed to a customer service representative.  The employer disputed this testimony relying on personnel records that indicated the employee worked only one job classification at AWWU.  The employer requested permission to call witnesses to rebut the employee’s testimony that she did not believe she was to be terminated on April 8, 2004, and that she held more than one job classification at AWWU.  The employee objected to the employer’s request to call rebuttal witnesses, arguing the employer should have known this was an issue and listed such witnesses on its witness list.  Additionally, the employee argued the August 7, 2005 arbitrator’s decision stated the employee completed her probation at AWWU on March 30, 2004.  The employee argued that decision collaterally estops the employer from arguing otherwise; thereby establishing the employee completed her AWWU probation on March 30, 2004.  The Board took the employee’s objection under advisement and proceeded to accept evidence and rebuttal witness testimony on this matter to preserve and develop the administrative record. 

The employer questioned the employee regarding the meaning of an April 12, 2004 entry in the employee’s “pain diary” that her problems at AWWU were “harassment.”  The employee responded she was upset with the way AWWU trained people.
 

The employee acknowledged that her April 5, 1989 Employment Application
 with the employer failed to identify her employment at Pictures, Inc. from 1986 through 1989.
  The employee acknowledged she filled out a ROI
 on December 13, 1988 for a slip and fall with similar injuries to her March 30, 2004 fall.
  The employee acknowledged she incurred a 1988 eye injury and received TTD for nine total weeks ending April 9, 1998.
  The employee acknowledged she did not include this information regarding these past injuries on her May 10, 1989 Pre Employment Health Questionnaire
 with the employer and explained she did not realize her prior injuries were “disabilities.”
  The employee denied she was in trouble with Pictures, Inc. regarding her timesheets.
  The employee acknowledged convictions in 2006, 1991 and 1988 for merchandise theft crimes and that she is on probation until February 2009.  The employee’s counsel objected to any evidence related to criminal proceedings over five years old and the Board took the objection under consideration.
  

The employee responded to a series of questions regarding her marriage circumstances and the completeness of information she provided at her October 11, 2004 deposition and to Drs. Craig and Klecan.  The employee explained that her husband is serving a life sentence for murder in an Arizona prison, that he works as an accountant in prison, and that she has never lived with him.  She acknowledged she did not reveal her husband was in prison at her deposition or to Drs. Craig or Klecan, but explained she was not asked if he was in prison.  She testified she only responded to the questions she was asked in deposition and by the physicians.

The employee testified she told Dr. Craig she had memory problems caused by her March 30, 2004 fall.
  She testified she was never asked if her husband was in prison by the physicians or at her deposition and she answered the questions she was asked truthfully.
  She explained she did not list Pictures, Inc. on her job application with the employer because the employer would not have been able to contact Pictures, Inc. because they went bankrupt.  Further, she testified the owner threatened her not to file a “claim.”  She did not remember the owner’s name.  She testified she won a wage and hour claim against Pictures, Inc.
  The employee testified she has been successful in every arbitration she has had with the Municipality of Anchorage.
  The employee testified she filed a sexual harassment law suit against the employer in 1999, which she won.

On direct examination the employee was asked, in regard to her state of mind, what the union told her prior to her injury regarding her employment status.  The employer objected that this was hearsay and went beyond the employee’s state of mind.  The employee’s attorney argued the testimony was admissible because it was being offered to prove the employee’s state of mind, and not the truth of what the union told her.  The Board ruled the testimony admissible and noted the employer’s continuing objection.
  She testified that her union advised her she had not been properly trained for her AWWU job and that she would complete her probation on March 30, 2004.
   She then testified the arbitrator ruled she had completed her probation and the employer objected that this testimony was not related to her state of mind.  The Board noted the arbitrator’s decision, stating the employee completed her probation on March 30, 2004, came after the injury.  Upon our ruling that continued testimony along this line was not indicative of her state of mind at the time of injury, the employee offered to continue her testimony focused on her state of mind at the time of her injury.
  The employee testified that the arbitrator found the employer had not provided proper notice of termination.  The employer objected to this testimony as lacking a foundation regarding time frame and which arbitration.  The employee acknowledged she was confused and the employee’s counsel offered to ask a different question.

The employee testified that on March 31, 2004, upon returning from a grievance meeting regarding her transfer to AWWU,
 she was not mad at the employer because the transfer was to a higher paying job at AWWU.  She testified she planned to work at AWWU for three years and then retire.  She testified she had no motive to intentionally slip and fall and that her fall was an accident.
  

She testified Dr. Craig opined she had post traumatic amnesia.  Employee’s attorney asked the employee if she had “any personal knowledge of how long she was knocked unconscious” when she slipped and fell.  The employer’s attorney objected that the question assumed the employee was unconscious and she had previously testified she was unconscious for 45 minutes.  The employee’s attorney argued the employee previously testified she was knocked unconscious and in her deposition she testified she was “told” she was unconscious for 45 minutes.  The Board instructed the employee’s counsel to rephrase the question and the employee testified she now has no idea how long she was unconscious following her March 30, 2004 fall.  She testified she initially could not get up after she fell; and was confused, scared, and in pain.
  

B. William Ross, D.C.

William Ross, D.C., testified at the April 1, 2008 hearing.  Dr. Ross testified that he is on the Board’s SIME physician list and is certified to assess PPI ratings.
  He testified he treated the employee from April 1, 2004 through February 8, 2006.
  Dr. Ross explained that, initially, he treated all the employee’s injured body parts but refined his treatment as the physical therapist began treatment.  He testified the employee’s initial response to treatment was quite slow and required a higher than normal frequency of treatment.  He explained that different body parts of the employee responded at different rates of improvement.  Dr. Ross testified the employee initially identified pain of the neck, shoulder, back, left leg, head, and hand.
  He testified he is familiar with the frequency of treatment standards and that, except in complex cases, he normally complies with the standard.  He testified that the employee was a complex case and he requested Board approval to exceed the frequency standards in this matter.  Dr. Ross testified he needed to exceed the frequency standards because the employee had very complicated injuries being treated by other providers, multiple regions of the body were injured, the employee’s activities caused exacerbations, and there were complications.
  Dr. Ross testified the average patient he treats has a single injury that does not require surgery.  He explained the employee’s case involved multiple injuries and multiple surgeries and was much more complex.
  He testified the employer never objected to the treatment plans he submitted, but rather only made a general objection to the frequency of his treatments.  He identified the date of controversion as July 15, 2004, but that the employer did make some subsequent payments.
  He testified that his regular physician’s reports each contained treatment plans and the employer did not communicate any concern with those plans.  

He testified his billing rates do not exceed the usual and customary rates based on the Board’s standards.
   He testified his treatments resulted in the employee improving based on her subjective comments and objective testing.  He testified that, as the employee improved, he decreased the frequency of treatment to less than twice a month.
  He testified he did not believe the employee was malingering and that he has experience in identifying such behavior.
  He testified the frequency standards were not appropriate for the employee’s medical condition.
  Dr. Ross testified he is the only chiropractor to provide an opinion regarding frequency of treatment issues.
  

Dr. Ross testified he agrees with Dr. Blackwell’s final 32 percent PPI rating of the employee.

He testified he successfully completed a three day training course in making PPI ratings.
  Dr. Ross testified he was aware some other providers had expressed concerns about symptom magnification.  He testified he had not read Dr. Craig’s deposition.
  He testified he agreed with Dr. Barrington’s assessment that there is no evidence of head injury.
  Dr. Ross testified that loss of mental function was not calculated into any of the PPI ratings.
  He testified he continued to agree with Dr. Blackwell’s PPI rating.
  He testified he agreed with Dr. Blackwell regarding the March 30, 2004 back injuries being superimposed over preexisting degenerative conditions.
  

Dr. Ross testified he believed his office faxed his first treatment plan to the Board on April 5, 2004.
  He testified that additional updated treatment plans were included in his physician reports and filed according to his office’s normal procedure, once a week.
  He acknowledged the employer paid for about 60 treatments prior to the July 15, 2004 controversion, which is about twice what is allowed under the frequency standards.
  After the controversion, he testified he treated the employee an additional 85 times, some of which exceeded the frequency standards.
  Dr. Ross testified he provided a second amended treatment plan on April 23, 2004, and a third amended treatment plan on July 14, 2004.  Dr. Ross testified that in addition to specific treatment plan documents, his treatment plans were also contained in item 34 of his physician’s reports.
  He testified that if the employer had objected or requested he would have prepared more formal treatment plans.
   He disagreed with reductions recommended by an Ingenix charges review, but acknowledged some significant errors in his final billing resulting in overcharging approximately $8,000.
  Dr. Ross acknowledged significant corrections needed to be made to his billings and request for payment.  The Board, therefore, requested he prepare and file a corrected billing statement.

C. Jerry D. Vandergriff

Jerry D. Vandergriff testified telephonically from Anchorage at the April 1, 2008 hearing.  Mr. Vandergriff testified he was the general manager of Pictures, Inc., during the time the employee worked there.  He testified that in 1987, the store changed its name to Pictures and Computers Store and closed in 1996.
  He testified the employee was hired as a bookkeeper in 1987 by the corporate headquarters and worked until 1988 or 1989.
  Mr. Vandergriff testified he did not supervise the employee and the employee kept irregular hours.  He testified he suspected she was not really working the hours she claimed and reported his suspicions to the company headquarters that supervised her.
  He testified she reported a slip and fall injury after he reported his suspicions.  He testified the company did not go bankrupt and did not close its Alaska store until 1996.
  He testified he never told the employee she would be fired if she filed an injury claim.  He testified he did not supervise the employee and other than “hearing about it” had no knowledge of the employee’s wage and hour claim.
  He testified that, after the employee left the company, they found a “drawer full of checks” from customers that had not been deposited and it had been the employee’s job to do so.

Mr. Vandergriff testified he had no involvement with the employee’s wage and hour claim and no way of knowing if the employee improperly claimed hours worked, as the employee was supervised and paid by the corporate headquarters.
  He testified the employee told him about her wage and hour claim.  He testified he had no idea if the employee was fired or not.
 

D. Patricia Griffith

Patricia Griffith testified at the April 1, 2008 hearing.   Ms. Griffith testified she is the Senior Administrative Officer for AWWU.  She testified she supervised the employee’s supervisors at AWWU.  She testified the employee transferred to AWWU in December 2003, and started as an Account Representative I with a probationary period of 520 hours.
  Ms. Griffith testified that the employee had difficulty satisfactorily completing her probationary period, which was extended on March 5, 2004.
  She testified the employee was notified on February 6, 2004,
 that she was not meeting the necessary standards and her probation was extended from March 5, 2004 to March 30, 2004.
  Ms. Griffith testified a subsequent March 16, 2004 memorandum
 notified the employee she was not meeting the required job performance standards and her probation was extended to April 8, 2004, and that a performance evaluation meeting was scheduled for April 6, 2004.  She testified that when the employee was injured on March 30, 2004, she was still on probation.
  Ms. Griffith explained that, while the employee may have worked at several tasks while at AWWU, they were all part of the duties of a “pool of people” and under a single probationary period.

Ms. Griffith testified she was not aware of any grievances by the employee against the employer.
  She further testified the memorandum language advising the employee “If your overall performance is not satisfactory by the above date, you will be terminated” referred to the employee’s AWWU Account Representative I position.  Ms. Griffith did not know about the employee’s lay off or transfer rights under the union contract.
  She was unable to identify a date certain the employee would have been terminated from all employment with the employer, if her performance had not improved to satisfactory by April 6, 2004.
  To the best of her recollection, Ms. Griffith testified that the employee was still having problems during her final days at AWWU and she had no knowledge of any sudden improvement.
  Ms. Griffith testified the employee was never told she was or was not going to be terminated.

E. Lynn Clarke

Lynn Clarke testified at the April 1, 2008 hearing.  Ms. Clarke testified she has worked at AWWU since April 2003, first as the human resources supervisor and that she was appointed Director in May 2004.
  She testified that the employer has the right to extend standard probation up to six months.  She testified AWWU management was going to meet with the employee on April 6, 2004, and decide what to do regarding her employment status; however in March 2004, she was not doing satisfactory work.  Ms. Clarke testified that if the employee did not improve her work performance, it was “possible” she would be terminated, which is known as being “prob-dropped.”
  She testified AWWU management was required to work closely with “City Hall” regarding the employee’s options and that in March 2004, there was no other job available to which the employee could be transferred.
  Ms. Clarke testified that after the employee’s March 30, 2004 injury, it was clear she would not complete her probation, so she was “prob-dropped” and transferred to an opening that occurred at HHS.
  Ms. Clarke testified the employee was provided ongoing training while at AWWU but she could not testify as to the specific nature of that training or whether it was substandard.

Ms. Clarke testified the employee had no transfer rights if “prob-dropped,” but was transferred based on her long term employment with the employer and her leave status.
  She testified the employee never received the planned April 6, 2004 evaluation because the meeting never occurred.
  She testified the employee was going to be terminated from AWWU after her slip and fall because she could not return to complete her probation, but then the transfer opportunity arose.
  Ms. Clarke testified she did not remember and was unable to say if the employee was in fact improving prior to her March 30, 2004 injury.  She testified she had no knowledge of the employee’s job performance during her final days at AWWU.
 

F. Henry M. Wiedle

Henry M. Wiedle testified telephonically from Anchorage at the April 1, 2008 hearing.  Mr. Wiedle testified he is a labor relations specialist and chief shop steward with the Anchorage Municipal Employees Association (AMEA) and is familiar with the AMEA collective bargaining agreement with the employer.
  He testified he is familiar with the employee’s work history and assisted with her grievances.
  He testified that on March 31, 2004, the employee had the right to be evaluated on April 6, 2004 and, if not performing satisfactorily, to be placed in lay-off status or be given a different position with the employer if one was available.
  He testified it would have been inconsistent with the collective bargaining agreement language and practice for the employer to have terminated the employee in April 2004.
  He testified as a probationary employee after transfer, the employee was under no threat of termination, because under Section 10.3.5(E) of the collective bargaining agreement the employer had an obligation to find her a new position and that was in fact what happened.
  He testified he told the employee and she knew there was no threat she would be terminated on, or about or shortly after March 31, 2004.

Mr. Wiedle further testified that if no position was available elsewhere with the employer, the employee could have been laid off.  He testified the employer was looking for another position for the employee in late March or early April 2004, but did not identify such a position until sometime later.
  He testified, before the employee’s injury, it was “likely” he told the employee there was no threat she would be terminated.
  He testified the employee felt she was being harassed at work during March 2004 and the union agreed with her.
  Mr. Wiedle recalled working with HHS, to place the employee on medical leave from the position she was transferred to from AWWU, shortly after her March 31, 2004 injury.

III. ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

A. The employee’s arguments

The employee argued she is entitled to additional TTD from September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004, based on the opinions of Dr. Ross and Dr. Moore that the employee was disabled from working during this period because of her March 31, 2004 injury.  The employee contends the Board should give more weight to the opinions of Drs. Ross and Moore than the contrary opinions of Drs. Williams and Leadbetter.  The employee argues Dr. Ross is on the Board’s SIME physician list and both he and Dr. Moore saw the employee repeatedly over several years.  Conversely, Drs. Williams and Leadbetter saw the employee only one or two times, and Drs. Williams and Leadbetter were incorrect in their opinions.  The employee additionally maintains that the SIME physician, Dr. Lazar, opined the employee remained totally disabled from any full time work as of January 18, 2005, supporting her entitlement to TTD benefits from September 8 through October 11, 2004.

The employee claimed she is entitled to additional PPI over the 13 percent previously paid by the employer.  The employee argued she is entitled to 32 percent PPI based on Dr. Blackwell’s SIME report, and in the alternative, the Board should rely on Dr. Barrington’s 21 percent PPI, which also is higher than the EME’s 13 percent.  She maintained, based on Dr. Lazar’s opinion that the March 31, 2004 injury caused a permanent change in the preexisting conditions and, accordingly, the injury accounts for any and all PPI attributable to each body part rated.  The employee asserted Dr. Ross agreed with Dr. Lazar’s opinions.  The employee contends based upon SIME physician Dr. Schleimer’s opinion that the injury caused a permanent aggravation of the underlying cervical condition and, accordingly, the Board should find any cervical PPI is related to this injury.  

The employee maintains Drs. Williams and Leadbetter were confused and inconsistent such that they should not be relied upon.  She points out that on August 1, 2004, they said there was no evidence of a tear in the employee’s knee, or of rotator cuff tears in her shoulders; and both opinions were proven wrong.  In further support of her argument that Dr. Leadbetter’s opinion is not reliable, the employee points out the errors Dr. Leadbetter made.  Specifically, on December 8, 2005, Dr. Leadbetter and Dr. Williams assessed a one percent PPI for the employee’s right knee, but on June 16, 2006, Dr. Leadbetter indicated his December 8, 2005 opinion was that the employee did not sustain a PPI to her right knee. 

The employee contends that Dr. Blackwell’s report is the most comprehensive, most recent, and well reasoned.  She asserted Dr. Blackwell’s position, that there are no mechanisms in the AMA Guides which allow for an arbitrary reduction of a current PPI by prior, asymptomatic, preexisting conditions, is correct.  She encourages the Board to adopt Dr. Blackwell’s approach, as he explained there would be no reason to rate preexisting conditions such as the employee’s because without symptoms, a rating would be pure speculation.  

The employee claims a 25 percent penalty on all PPI previously paid, asserting it was not paid in a timely fashion as a lump sum.  The employee argues her request for a reemployment eligibility evaluation was “inchoate”
 and thus her PPI benefits should have been paid in a lump sum.  The employee asserts any claim for reemployment benefits was withdrawn on October 9, 2006, when the employee’s counsel filed an objection to and requested modification of the October 2, 2006 prehearing conference summary.  In that objection the employee requested that “reemployment benefits” be deleted as an issue because no physician had made the required prediction under AS 23.30.041(c) that the employee would be unable to return to her work at the time of her injury.  Employee argues the 14 days under AS 23.30.155(b) began to run on October 6, 2006, and the remaining balance of the 13 percent PPI was not paid until December 27, 2006.  Further, the employee asserts she is entitled, as are her medical providers to interest on benefits awarded by the Board.
The employee claimed she is entitled to additional medical benefits to cover some unpaid or unreimbursed medical expenses.  The employee asserted Dr. Ross should also be paid for medical care he provided, which remains outstanding and for which he has filed his own claim.  The employee contended that Dr. Ross provided appropriate and timely treatment plans justifying treatment in excess of frequency standards and that the treatment, as received, assisted the employee.  The employee argued that the employer should have objected to the frequency of Dr. Ross’ treatments sooner and more clearly.  The employee asserted that the Alaska Supreme Court’s holding in Phillip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,
 compels the Board to order the employer to pay Dr. Ross’ bills because all treatments provided by Dr. Ross fell within the first two years following the employee’s injury.  The employee contends Hibdon, limits the Board to little or no discretion with respect to authorizing medical care during the two years following an employee’s injury.  The employee argued that the opinions of physicians other than a chiropractor are not adequate to rebut the testimony of Dr. Ross regarding chiropractic issues.  

In response to the employer’s assertions that on March 31, 2004, the employee believed she was about to lose her employment with the employer, the employee asserted she believed the most that could change in her employment status was the employer would transfer her to another position.  The employee pointed out Section 10.3.5(E.) of the AMEA collective bargaining agreement provides that when an employee serving a probationary period following a transfer is not performing adequately, consideration will be given to placing the employee in another appropriate position.
  She maintains this was in fact what happened, evidenced by her reassignment to HHS.  Additionally, the employee pointed out that the August 7, 2005 Arbitrator’s Opinion and Award in her grievance found the employee had been wrongfully terminated from her HHS position, ordered her reinstatement, that she be made whole, and found that she completed her probationary period at AWWU on March 30, 2004, the day before her injury.
  The employee argues the employer is collaterally estopped from introducing evidence contrary to the August 7, 2005 arbitrator’s decision and award and objects to such evidence being considered by the Board.  

B. Dr. Ross’ arguments

Dr. Ross claimed that the employer should pay the remaining balance of his bill for medical services provided to the employee.  After some discussion at the April 1, 2008 hearing, Dr. Ross acknowledged some significant errors in his billings.  The parties agreed they would further examine Dr. Ross’ billings, determine a precise amount in dispute, and provide this information to the Board.
  Dr. Ross argued that, although his treatments of the employee exceeded the frequency standard in 8 AAC 45.082(f), such treatment was necessary and he submitted updated treatment plans in compliance with the Act.  He contended that the employee’s treatment was complex, involving multiple body parts and coordination with other physicians.  He asserted the treatment standards under the Act were not appropriate for the employee’s injuries.  Dr. Ross argued that the employee benefited from the treatments he provided and, thus the Board should find the treatment compensable..

C. The employer’s arguments

The employer argued the employee is not entitled to additional TTD based on Dr. Moore’s September 7, 2004 release of the employee to desk duty from September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004.  The employer contends the employee could have gone to work at her new job with HHS during this period of time.  The employer asserts that Dr. Moore’s January 30, 2007 letter, contradicting his September 7, 2004 work release, is inadmissible because the employer has raised a Smallwood objection to the admissibility of the letter and the employee failed to make Dr. Moore available for cross-examination.  The employer maintains Dr. Ross’ September and October 2004 Physician Reports, that indicated the employee was released from work indefinitely, are unreliable duplicates of earlier Physician Reports.  Additionally, the June 25, 2004 EME of Drs. Williams and Leadbetter found the employee to be able to return to full duty work.

The employer argued the employee is not entitled to additional PPI.  The employer asserts that Dr. Blackwell failed to reduce his PPI rating to offset the employee’s preexisting conditions pursuant to AS 23.30.190.  It asserts that both Dr. Barrington’s and Dr. Blackwell’s PPI ratings are based on the employee’s subjective reporting of her condition and therefore are not reliable because the employee is not credible.  The employer spent considerable hearing time disputing the employee’s credibility.  To support its assertion that the employee is not credible, the employer introduced evidence indicating the employee misrepresented her employment and medical history on her job application with the employer.
  The employer focused on the employee’s conflicting statements to medical providers regarding how long she was unconscious following her injury on March 31, 2004.  The employer introduced evidence that the employee has multiple convictions for minor theft crimes,
 and contended the employee was deceptive in responding to questions regarding her marital status by failing to reveal her husband was in prison.

The employer also argued that the employee’s March 31, 2004 injury was motivated by a concern that she was about to be terminated from her employment with the employer.  The employer introduced evidence including various personnel records indicating the employee was failing to satisfactorily perform her job at AWWU and was about to be terminated.
  The employer contended that on March 31, 2004, the employee believed she was about to lose her job and was motivated to allege greater injuries than she actually suffered. 

The employer asserted it has paid for all chiropractic care provided by Dr. Ross prior to the July 13, 2004 controversion; and thereafter, all subsequent treatment within the frequency standards.   The employer maintains Dr. Ross is not entitled to additional payment for services provided to the employee because his billings are excessive and he exceeded the Act’s frequency standards.  The employer asserted Dr. Ross’ initial treatment plan was filed late, and that the treatment plans Dr. Ross claims to have provided are not really plans but rather just repeated statements of what treatments he intended to provide the employee.  The employer points out that all of the statements Dr. Ross asserts constitute treatment plans, read exactly the same, even after the controversion.  Employer argues that Drs. Lazar, Schleimer, Williams, and Leadbetter all opined no further treatment was required after the date of controversion of Dr. Ross’ chiropractic treatment.  The employer maintains several Alaska Supreme Court decisions prohibit the payment of medical benefits in the absence of a treatment plan and specifically relies upon Grove v. Alaska Construction,
 Hale v. Alaska Construction,
 and Chiropractors for Justice v. State.
 

The employer maintains there is no basis for additional attorney’s fees or penalties because no additional benefits are owed and the employer promptly paid the PPI balance after the employee withdrew her reemployment claim.  The employer argues the 14 day period for payment of the remaining balance of the 13 percent PPI rating, began on December 18, 2006, when the prehearing conference summary of that date, which deleted reemployment benefits as an issue, was issued.  The employer asserts that accordingly, its payment of this amount on December 27, 2006, was timely. 

The employer contends that employee’s counsel is not a party to Dr. Ross’ claim and that there is no basis to award attorney’s fees to the employee should Dr. Ross prevail in his claim.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. EVIDENTIARY OBJECTIONS
A. Objections by the parties to rebuttal witnesses.

The employee objected to the employer calling Jerry D. Vandergriff, Patricia Griffith, and Lynn Clarke as rebuttal witnesses to the employee’s testimony at the April 1, 2008 hearing.  The basis of the employee’s objection was that these witnesses were not identified on the employer’s witness list.  The employee argued that the employer should have anticipated the need to call them and listed them specifically on its witness list.  The employer responded that it did list “necessary rebuttal witnesses” on its witness list but did not know what rebuttal witnesses it would need to call until the employee testified.
  

The employer objected to the employee calling Mr. Wiedle as a rebuttal witnesses.  The employee had listed a union representative on her witness list.
  At hearing, the Board decided to allow both parties to call rebuttal witnesses based on the testimony of the employee and anticipated testimony of the employer’s rebuttal witnesses.  

Alaska Rule of Evidence (ARE) 46 Conduct of Trials provides in relevant part:

(b) Introduction of Evidence.  Unless otherwise ordered by the court, which may regulate the order of proof in the exercise of sound discretion, the plaintiff shall then introduce evidence, and when the plaintiff has concluded the defendant shall do the same.

(c) Rebutting Evidence.  The parties may then respectively introduce rebutting evidence only, unless the court, for good reason and in the furtherance of justice, permits them to introduce other evidence.

AS 23.30.135(a) provides in relevant part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. 

Typically, rebuttal witness testimony is allowed only as to opinions or evidence brought out for the first time at hearing.  The Alaska Supreme Court in Sirotiak v. HC Price Co.,
 stated:

“[R]ebuttal testimony is any competent evidence which explains, is a direct reply to, or a contradiction of material evidence introduced by ... a party in a civil action.” Riffey v. Tonder, 36 Md.App. 633, 375 A.2d 1138, 1977) 1145 (; 6 J. Wigmore, Evidence Sec. 1873 (Chadbourn rev. ed. 1976) (usual rule excludes all evidence which has not been made necessary by the opponent's case in reply). Cf. Van Horn Lodge, Inc. v. Ahearn, 596 P.2d 1159 (Alaska 1979). The focus of rebuttal is to respond to new points or material first introduced by the opposing party. Chrisler v. Holiday Valley, Inc., 580 S.W.2d 309, 314 (Mo.App.1979); Souza v. United Electric Railways Co., 49 R.I. 430, 143 A. 780, 782 (1928). Rebuttal should not merely contradict or corroborate evidence already presented, instead it should be evidence in denial of some affirmative fact which the answering party endeavors to prove. Yeomans v. Warren, 87 A.D.2d 713, 448 N.Y.S.2d 889 (1982).

The trial court is vested with wide discretion in controlling the order of proof. American Nat'l Watermattress Corp. v. Manville, 642 P.2d 1330, 1339 (Alaska 1982). Whether evidence is proper rebuttal evidence lies within the trial court's sound discretion. See Alaska Airlines, Inc. v. Sweat, 568 P.2d 916, 932 (Alaska 1977).

*  * *

In general, evidence which is necessary to prove a prima facie case should be presented in plaintiff’s case in chief. 6 J. Wigmore, Sec. 1873, at 678. Although the plaintiff is not required to anticipate defenses as part of its case in chief, see Houser v. Coursey, 310 Ky. 625, 221 S.W.2d 432, 433-34 (1949), the plaintiff may not ignore known defense theories or close her eyes to avenues that directly counters plaintiff’s prima facie case. See Pieniewski v. Benbenek, 56 A.D.2d 710, 392 N.Y.S.2d 732 (1977) . . . 

We find, that under AS 23.30.135(a), to best ascertain the rights of the parties it is necessary to admit and consider the testimony of both the employee’s and the employer’s rebuttal witnesses.  We find the employee’s testimony and the evidence regarding her employment history with the employer and status at the time of injury to be convoluted.  She was transferred multiple times between municipal agencies, underwent a contentious probationary period, and participated in multiple arbitrations.  We find at least some of the employee’s hearing testimony, regarding her AWWU employment, was not previously in the record.  We find the rebuttal testimony of Ms. Griffith and Ms. Clarke admissible to rebut and clarify the hearing testimony of the employee regarding her employment status.  We find the rebuttal testimony of Mr. Vandergriff admissible to rebut hearing testimony of the employee regarding her employment at Pictures, Inc. and the status of that company.  We find the rebuttal testimony of Mr. Wiedle admissible evidence in denial of evidence introduced by the employer regarding the employee’s state of mind at the time of her injury. We conclude the testimony of Mr. Wiedle, Mr. Vandergriff, Ms. Griffith, and Ms. Clarke is admissible as rebuttal testimony.

B. Employee’s objection to the admissibility of evidence in conflict with the statement in the August 7, 2005 arbitrator’s decision, that the employee completed her probationary period at AWWU on March 30, 2004, under the rule of collateral estoppel.

Relitigation of issues that have been litigated and determined in an earlier action by a final judgment is precluded by application of collateral estoppel.
 Offensive use of collateral estoppel occurs where a plaintiff seeks to preclude a defendant from relitigating an issue that the defendant previously litigated unsuccessfully against the same or a different party.
  There are three requirements for application of collateral estoppel: 

(1) The plea of collateral estoppel must be asserted against a party or one in privity with a party to the first action;
(2) The issue to be precluded from relitigation by operation of the doctrine must be identical to that decided in the first action;
(3) The issue in the first action must have been resolved by a final judgment on the merits.

Asserting collateral estoppel, the employee objected to the introduction of evidence that conflicted with the statement contained in the August 7, 2005 arbitrator’s decision that the employee successfully completed her probation at AWWU on March 30, 2004.  The employee asserted that as a result of an arbitration process in which both parties participated, the employer is collaterally estopped from arguing that the statement of the arbitrator is not accurate.  The employer argued the statement regarding the employee’s probation completion was not a formal finding by the arbitrator and that since the decision was issued after the date of injury, it is not relevant to the employee’s state of mind on March 31, 2004.  We deferred ruling on the employee’s collateral estoppel objection and proceeded to accept evidence developing the administrative record on the issue of if, or when, the employee completed her probation at AWWU.  We find that as to the issue of the employee’s state of mind at the time of her injury, the statement in an arbitration decision over a year later is not sufficient to estop the employer from presenting contemporaneous evidence as to the employee’s state of mind at the time of her injury.  We find, that under AS 23.30.135(a), to best ascertain the rights of the parties, it is necessary to admit evidence that conflicts with the August 7, 2005 arbitrator’s decision.  We conclude evidence submitted by the employer that conflicts with the statement in the August 7, 2005 arbitrator’s decision, is admissible under AS 23.30.135 and 8 AAC 45.120(e); however we shall only consider it as it relates to the employee’s state of mind on March 31, 2004, but not to reconsider whether the employee had completed her probationary period..
C. The employer’s hearsay objection to the employee’s testimony regarding what the AMEA had advised her regarding her employment status.

The employer objected to the employee’s counsel asking the employee what her union was “telling her” regarding her employment status prior to her March 31, 2004 injury.  The employer argued such testimony was inadmissible hearsay.  The employee argued it was admissible because it was not being offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, but rather only to evidence the state of mind of the employee at the time of her injury.   ARE 801(c) defines hearsay as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.”  ARE 803(3) provides an exception to the hearsay rule for a statement of the declarant’s then existing state of mind, but not as evidence of the truth of the fact remembered.

At the April 1, 2008 hearing, we ruled the testimony admissible as to the employee’s state of mind.  The employee then offered some testimony outside the parameters of our ruling but was subsequently guided back to admissible testimony by her counsel.  We affirm our ruling at the hearing that the employee’s testimony regarding what the AMEA was advising her prior to her injury is admissible evidence as to her state of mind, but not as to the truth of the content of what the AMEA advised her.  The employer devoted considerable time and effort to establish that the employee’s state of mind at the time of her injury places her credibility in question.  We find that, in order for the Board to fully consider the employee’s state of mind, what her union representatives advised her prior to her injury is highly relevant.   We find the testimony of Mr. Wiedle provides direct evidence of the advice the employee received from AMEA.  The employee’s testimony was not contradicted by the testimony of Mr. Wiedle and was at least partially corroborated.  We find our ruling consistent with ARE 801(c) and 803(3), and that under AS 23.30.135(a), to best ascertain the rights of the parties, we shall admit the employee’s testimony.  

D. Employer’s objection to employee’s counsel asking employee whether she knows how long she was unconscious.

The employer objected to a question posed to the employee by her counsel regarding how long she was unconscious after she slipped and fell on March 30, 2004.  The employer’s objection was based on lack of foundation that the employee in fact was rendered unconscious by her injury.  Additionally, the employer argued the employee had previously testified at deposition and told Dr. Craig that she was unconscious for 45 minutes.  The employee’s counsel argued that the foundation had been provided when the employee previously testified at the hearing that she was knocked unconscious.  Additionally, the employee asserted that, during her deposition, the employee testified she was told she was unconscious for about 45 minutes.
   We instructed the employee’s counsel to rephrase and ask the question again based on the fact that earlier in the hearing the employee had in fact testified she was knocked unconscious.  The employee’s counsel asked if she personally knew how long she was unconscious and the employee answered she did not.  We find a review of the employee’s deposition testimony indicates she did not testify she was unconscious for 45 minutes, as argued by the employer’s counsel, but rather testified she was told she was unconscious for 45 minutes.  We conclude the employee’s answer is admissible evidence that she personally believes she was unconscious and that she does not know how long she was so.

E. Employee’s objection to the admissibility of evidence regarding the employee’s criminal convictions from greater than five years in the past.

The employer offered evidence of the employee’s criminal convictions for theft in 1991, 1998 and 2006.  The employee objected to the admissibility of any portion of her criminal record greater than five years old.  ARE 609(b) provides that evidence of a criminal conviction provided to impeach a witness is inadmissible if a period of more than five years has elapsed since the date of the conviction.  It also provides, however, that evidence of a conviction of someone other than an accused in a criminal case may be allowed if it is necessary for a fair determination of the case.  ARE 404(b) provides that evidence of crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible if the sole purpose for offering the evidence is to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith.  We find that while we have discretion to do so under 
AS 23.30.120(e), it is consistent with ARE 609(b) and 404(b) that we not consider the criminal record of the employee other than her 2006 theft conviction.  We conclude we will exclude from our consideration the criminal record of the employee other than her 2006 theft conviction.

F. The employer’s Smallwood objection to Dr. Moore’s January 30, 2007 letter.

At the April 1, 2008 hearing, the employer objected to the admissibility of Dr. Moore’s January 30, 2007 letter, asserting the employee failed to make Dr. Moore available for cross examination.  In his January 30, 2007 letter, Dr. Moore explains a letter he provided the employee in September 2004.  The employee filed this letter with a medical summary on February 14, 2007. We find Dr. Moore’s January 30, 2007 letter contradicts his September 2004 letter.  The employer on February 26, 2007, served a Request for Cross-examination specifically identifying Dr. Moore’s January 30, 2007 letter.
  Additionally, on February 19, 2008, the employer filed a Request for Cross-examination regarding the “2/7/18” (sic) Medical Summary prepared by employee’s counsel including “2/14/04 [sic] hearing health history.”
  Due to the erroneous dating the Board is unable to determine the intent of the February 19, 2008 Request for Cross-examination. We do however, find Dr. Moore’s January 30, 2007 letter included in the February 26, 2007 Request for Cross-examination.  We find the employer raised a Smallwood
 objection to the admissibility of the letter.  We find the employee failed to make Dr. Moore available for cross-examination, and that his January 30, 2007 letter was written over a year after he indicated he had completed his care for the employee.
   We find Dr. Moore’s January 30, 2007 letter is not an ordinary medical record that is admissible under the business record exception to the hearsay rule.  We find the letter is an attempt to retroactively alter or explain, for the purposes of litigation, what is an ordinary medical record, the September 2004 work release,.  In the recent Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (AWCAC) decision in Geister v. Kid’s Corps, Inc.,
 the AWCAC, upheld the Board’s exclusion of letters written by a physician to a claimant’s attorney and insurer expressing opinions on the core issue before the Board.  The AWCAC held that letters written by a physician to a party or party representative to express an expert medical opinion on an issue before the Board are not admissible as business records unless the requisite foundation is established.  As such, we find the letter, under Geister, is subject to the employer’s Smallwood objection.  Since the employee failed to provide Dr. Moore for cross-examination as requested by the employer, we conclude the requisite foundation was not established and the January 30, 2007 letter is inadmissible.  We shall not consider it in this matter.
G. The employee’s objection to the admissibility of Exhibit P to the employer’s Closing Brief.

The employer’s Closing Brief filed on April 16, 2008, included an Exhibit P entitled, “Medical Summary/Timeline of Chiropractic Treatment,” which itemized and summarized Dr. Ross’ medical services to the employee.  On May 2, 2008, the employee objected to the admissibility of Exhibit P.  The employee argued that Exhibit P exceeded the scope of our request for post hearing briefing.  On May 8, 2008, the employer filed a Reply to the employee’s objection to Exhibit P explaining that the employer had intended to submit a similar exhibit at the April 1, 2008 hearing at its closing, but closing arguments regarding Dr. Ross’ billings were not presented due to the inaccuracies identified at the hearing.  We found the inaccuracies in Dr. Ross’ billings discovered at the April 1, 2008 hearing justified the record remaining open to subsequent evidence such as Exhibit P, which was partially based on Dr. Ross’ corrected billing statement provided post hearing.  We find, that under AS 23.30.135(a), to best ascertain the rights of the parties, we shall admit Exhibit P into the administrative record.  

II. THE PRESUMPTION OF COMPENSABILITY

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits she seeks are compensable.
  AS 23.30.120(a) states, in relevant part, as follows: 

In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.

The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed treatment or disability and her employment.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link has been established, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.
  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would show that the need for treatment or disability is not related to the employee’s work; or (2) directly eliminating all reasonable possibilities that work was a factor in causing the disability or that treatment is reasonable and necessary for a work-related condition.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  Therefore, the Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles her to benefits.

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

III. EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM FOR ADDITIONAL TTD FROM SEPTEMBER 8, 2004 THROUGH OCTOBER 11, 2004.

AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.395(27) defines medical stability as:

The date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care of the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

The employee claims TTD from September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004.  Where employment causes injury or when employment aggravates, accelerates, or combines with a pre-existing condition to cause a disability, the claimant is entitled to compensation and benefits.
  The employment must be a substantial factor contributing to the disability.
 

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp., that AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  

We find the employee has raised the presumption that she is entitled to additional TTD with her testimony that she could not return to work at her new HHS position until her physician released her to do so and that she was in too much pain to return to work.
  The employee additionally introduced admissible evidence that Dr. Ross, in his physician’s reports, released the employee from work from September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004, because of her injuries.
  We find Dr. Ross’ physician report work releases and the employee’s testimony that she was in too much pain to return to work, sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability for her TTD claim.  Further, we find Dr. Moore’s September 8, 2004 report identifying the employee would need additional shoulder surgery and the subsequent October 12, 2004 right shoulder surgery which revealed a rotator cuff tear, constitute sufficient evidence that the employee was not medically stable and also raise the presumption. 

We find the employer has rebutted the presumption based on Dr. Moore’s September 8, 2004 letter which additionally stated an alternative to no work was that the employee could return to “desk type work activities only” with lifting restrictions
 and the employee’s testimony that she had a desk job as a Senior Office Assistant available at HHS beginning three to four weeks after her March 31, 2004 injury until her termination on April 29, 2005.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis we consider if the employee has proven her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  We have already found Dr. Moore’s 2007 letter to be inadmissible, so we must not use the information contained in that letter to interpret his September 8, 2004 letter.   In his September 8, 2004 letter, Dr. Moore acknowledged the employee’s need for multiple additional surgeries.
  The employee’s subsequent shoulder surgeries did confirm she had bilateral shoulder rotator cuff tears.  We find, based on the employee’s testimony, that she knew of her new job at HHS during the period she is claiming additional TTD for, but did not attempt to return to work.
  We find the employee’s testimony, that she was in too much pain to return to work during this time period, verified by the existence of subsequently confirmed bilateral shoulder rotator cuff tears.   

We note that SIME Dr. Schleimer opined in his February 2, 2005 report that the employee would not be medically stable for another three or four months but that she could return to work in a sedentary position with restrictions during the additional physical therapy he recommended.  Additionally, SIME Dr. Lazar opined in his January 18, 2005 report that the employee may be able to return to a sedentary position at least part time in approximately three months or June 5, 2005.  Although both Drs. Schleimer and Lazar evaluations were post right shoulder surgery and pre left shoulder surgery we find they are substantial evidence that the employee had ongoing shoulder injury issues and was not medically stable during the period for which she claims additional TTD.

We find, based on all the administrative record, that the employee proved by a preponderance of the evidence that she was not medically stable and could not return to work at her new HHS desk job from September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004.  We primarily rely on the employee’s physician, Dr. Moore’s September 8, 2004 letter and the confirmation she had bilateral shoulder rotator cuff tears by her subsequent shoulder surgeries in making this finding.  We accordingly conclude the employee is entitled to additional TTD for the period September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004. 

IV. EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM FOR ADDITIONAL PPI.

The employee claims she is entitled to additional PPI benefits in excess of the 13 percent rating paid by the employer.  AS 23.30.190 provides, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . ."

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury. . . .

AS 23.30.190(b) is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be for an impairment which is partial in character and permanent in quality and calculated under the AMA Guides.  We have consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.
  

As noted above, the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries, applicable to any claim for benefits under the workers' compensation statute.
  Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence regarding the employee’s claim for additional PPI we first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find, based on the reports of Drs. Barrington and Blackwell that the employee has raised the presumption that she is entitled to additional PPI benefits beyond 13 percent.  We find the employer has rebutted the presumption, based on the opinion of Dr. Williams, that the employee’s PPI rating is 13 percent.  We now consider if the employee has proven she is entitled to additional PPI benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.
The employee claims additional PPI above the previously paid 13 percent EME physician Dr. Williams opined in his June 16, 2006 letter.  The employee claims she is entitled to 32 percent PPI opined by SIME physician Dr. Blackwell or, in the alternative, 21 percent opined by her treating physician Dr. Barrington.  The employer has offered extensive evidence to show the employee is not credible.  The employer argued that Dr. Barrington’s and Dr. Blackwell’s PPI ratings are dependent on the employee’s credibility and, since she is not credible, we should not rely on their PPI ratings.  

We find Dr. Williams’ PPI rating, which does not provide for any PPI related to the spine, is contradicted by Dr. Lazar’s opinion that the injury caused a permanent change in the employee’s preexisting conditions, with which Dr. Ross agrees; and Dr. Schleimer’s opinion that the injury caused a permanent aggravation of the employee’s preexisting cervical condition.  Both Dr. Barrington (ten percent) and Dr. Blackwell (11 percent) assigned some additional PPI related to the employee’s spine condition consistent with the opinions of Drs. Lazar and Schleimer.  However, we find Dr. Blackwell noted his concern toward the employee’s symptom magnification, specifically as it related to his assignment of a PPI rating in relation to the spine.  

We find Dr. Blackwell’s assessment of additional partial impairment of the upper extremity related to the open distal clavicle excision arthroplasty and shoulder acromioplasty accounts for the greatest difference between his and Dr. Barrington’s ratings.  We find that Dr. Barrington did not have records of the employee’s shoulder surgeries, but he was clearly aware of the surgeries and assessed PPI based upon them.  We find that the AMA Guides provide that assessment of additional PPI based on arthroplasty is not appropriate with impairments due to instability, subluxation, or dislocation.
  Dr. Leadbetter testified that in his opinion the open distal clavicle excision arthroplasty and shoulder acromioplasty were not related to the workplace injury and should not be considered in the PPI rating.  Dr. Barrington saw the employee in both 2004 and 2005, and was one of the employee’s physicians, as such, we find he was in a better position than either Dr. Blackwell or Dr. Leadbetter to fully assess the employee’s injuries, accurately apply the impairment guides, and evaluate the credibility of the employee in describing her symptoms.  This understanding of the employee’s symptoms and medical history was an essential element in distinguishing whether additional PPI for the open distal clavicle excision arthroplasty and shoulder acromioplasty should be included in the PPI rating.  Accordingly, we give the greatest weight to Dr. Barrington’s PPI rating, which does not include additional PPI for the open distal clavicle excision arthroplasty and shoulder acromioplasty.  Based upon the preponderance of the evidence and in reliance on Dr. Barrington’s opinion, we conclude that the employee is entitled to additional PPI benefits of eight percent, which is the difference between the 13 percent already paid and Dr. Barrington’s 21 percent rating.
V. EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM FOR MEDICAL BENEFITS.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part: “The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....”  The presumption also applies to claims for additional medical treatment
 and for continuing medical care for palliative treatment.
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).

The employee claims additional medical benefits for medical services she has received, but asserts the employer has not paid.  At the April 1, 2008 hearing, the parties reached agreement that these bills, other than those from Dr. Ross, will be paid by the employer.  On April 16, 2008, the employer sent the employee a letter identifying the medical bills in question and explaining their payment.
  The employee requests we order payment of any of the remaining of these bills and award appropriate interest.  

The workers’ compensation regulations at 8 AAC 45.050(f) provide, in relevant part:

(1) If a claim or petition has been filed and the parties agree that there is no dispute as to any material fact and agree to the dismissal of the claim or petition, . . . , a stipulation of facts signed by all parties may be filed, consenting to the immediate filing of an order based upon the stipulation of facts.

(2) Stipulations between the parties may be made at any time in writing before the close of the record, or may be made orally in the course of a hearing or a prehearing. 

(3) Stipulations of fact or to procedures are binding upon the parties to the stipulation and have the effect of an order.  .  .  .

(4) The board will, in its discretion, base its findings upon the facts as they appear from the evidence, or cause further evidence or testimony to be taken, or order an investigation into the matter.  .  .  .

In accordance with 8 AAC 45.050(f)(2), we find the parties reached an oral stipulation regarding medical benefits other than for Dr. Ross’ services at the April 1, 2008 hearing.  Although the parties seek to resolve this portion of the employee’s workers’ compensation claim, the employee is not waiving any future benefits.  Consequently, the provisions of AS 23.30.012 do not apply, and a compromise and release agreement is not necessary.  Accordingly, the Board is able to consider the parties’ stipulation under 8 AAC 45.050(f).

Based upon the oral stipulation and the Board’s independent review of the documentary record, the Board will exercise its discretion to issue an order in accord with 8 AAC 45.050(f), concerning the stipulated benefits.  The Board’s order will bind the parties in accord with the Alaska Supreme Court decision in Underwater Const. Inc. v. Shirley.
  If, on the basis of a change in condition or mistake of fact, the parties wish to change the benefits awarded, they must file a claim or petition with the Board to request modification of this decision and order under AS 23.30.130.

Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim we first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find, based on the testimony of the employee and medical evidence in the record that the employee has raised the presumption that these additional medical costs are reasonable and necessary.  We find the employer does not deny these benefits are owed and in fact is working with the employee to identify and pay them.  Based on the oral stipulation at the April 1, 2008 hearing and the Board’s review of the record, we will award the employee the specified medical benefits, as agreed in the oral stipulation, pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a) and 
8 AAC 45.050(f).
  

VI. PROVIDER DR. ROSS’ CLAIM FOR ADDITIONAL PAYMENT FOR MEDICAL SERVICES PROVIDED TO THE EMPLOYEE.

AS 23.30.095 provides in pertinent part:  

(c) A claim for medical or surgical treatment, or treatment requiring continuing and multiple treatments of a similar nature is not valid and enforceable against the employer unless, within 14 days following treatment, the physician or health care provider giving the treatment or the employee receiving it furnishes to the employer and the board notice of the injury and treatment, preferably on a form prescribed by the board. The board shall, however, excuse the failure to furnish notice within 14 days when it finds it to be in the interest of justice to do so, and it may, upon application by a party in interest, make an award for the reasonable value of the medical or surgical treatment so obtained by the employee. When a claim is made for a course of treatment requiring continuing and multiple treatments of a similar nature, in addition to the notice, the physician or health care provider shall furnish a written treatment plan if the course of treatment will require more frequent outpatient visits than the standard treatment frequency for the nature and degree of the injury and the type of treatments. The treatment plan shall be furnished to the employee and the employer within 14 days after treatment begins. The treatment plan must include objectives, modalities, frequency of treatments, and reasons for the frequency of treatments. If the treatment plan is not furnished as required under this subsection, neither the employer nor the employee may be required to pay for treatments that exceed the frequency standard. The board shall adopt regulations establishing standards for frequency of treatment.
Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.082, provides in pertinent part:  

(f) If an injury occurs on or after July 1, 1988, and requires continuing and multiple treatments of a similar nature, the standards for payment for frequency of outpatient treatment for the injury will be as follows. Except as provided in (h) of this section, payment for a course of treatment for the injury may not exceed more than three treatments per week for the first month, two treatments per week for the second and third months, one treatment per week for the fourth and fifth months, and one treatment per month for the sixth through twelfth months. Upon request, and in accordance with AS 23.30.095(c), the board will, in its discretion, approve payment for more frequent treatments. 

(g) The board will, in its discretion, require the employer to pay for treatments that exceed the frequency standards in (f) of this section only if the board finds that 

(1) the written treatment plan was given to the employer and employee within 14 days after treatments began; 

(2) the treatments improved or are likely to improve the employee's conditions; and 

(3) a preponderance of the medical evidence supports a conclusion that the board's frequency standards are unreasonable considering the nature of the employee's injury. 

(h) An employee or employer may choose to pay for a course of treatments that exceeds the frequency standards in (f) of this section even though payment is not required by the board or by AS 23.30.095. 
Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.195 provides:

A procedural requirement in this chapter may be waived or modified by order of the board if manifest injustice to a party would result from a strict application of the regulation. However, a waiver may not be employed merely to excuse a party from failing to comply with the requirements of law or to permit a party to disregard the requirements of law.
We find the employee and Dr. Ross claim the additional treatment provided in excess of the frequency standards, as identified in Dr. Ross’ April 18, 2008 letter, totaling $7,223.50.  Based on the administrative record of Dr. Ross’ billings, we find the employer has paid for all chiropractic care provided by Dr. Ross prior to the July 13, 2004 controversion and all subsequent treatment within the frequency standards.
  

Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence regarding the employee’s and Dr. Ross’ claim for additional payment to Dr. Ross for medical services, we first consider whether the presumption attaches.  The testimony and opinion of Dr. Ross that his chiropractic treatment of the employee was reasonable and necessary, is sufficient to attach the presumption that Dr. Ross’ treatment beyond the frequency standards is compensable.  

We next determine whether the presumption is rebutted.  We find, based on the administrative record, that the employer has introduced substantial evidence that Dr. Ross’ treatments of the employee exceeded the frequency standards of 8 AAC 45.082, that Dr. Ross failed to timely submit a treatment plan, and that Dr. Ross’ physician reports do not constitute appropriate treatment plans under the requirements of AS 23.30.095(c).  We do so without weighing credibility and, accordingly, find that the employer has rebutted the presumption that Dr. Ross’ additional treatments are compensable. 

Because the employer has rebutted the presumption, we review the entire record to determine whether the Dr. Ross and the employee have proved their claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  We find they have not.

We find Dr. Ross’ chiropractic treatments of the employee beginning in April 2004, exceeded the frequency standard of 8 AAC 45.082(f).  We find Dr. Ross treated the employee six times during the first week of treatment.  We find that thereafter, with the exception of the week of the employee’s right knee surgery on August 10, 2004, Dr. Ross’ treatments of the employee continued to exceed the weekly frequency standard until the employee’s October 12, 2004 surgery.  Additionally, we find the frequency of treatment standard was exceeded during and after February 2005.
 

Exceeding the frequency standards of 8 AAC 45.082 is not valid or enforceable unless specific criteria laid out in AS 23.30.095(c) are met.  In the instant matter, we find Dr. Ross failed to timely provide a treatment plan to the employer under AS 23.30.095(c) and 8 AAC 45.082(g)(1).  We find the employee began treating with Dr. Ross on April 1, 2004.  During the first week of treatment, Dr. Ross treated the employee on April 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, and 7.  We find that notice and a treatment plan became necessary with the fourth treatment on April 5, 2008,
 and should have been filed within 14 days.
  We find that Dr. Ross prepared an “Amended Treatment Plan” on April 5, 2004, proposing four treatments in excess of frequency standards from April 5, 2004 through April 19, 2004.  The plan indicated that the employee’s injuries were “severe” and that she would require greater than the frequency standard of treatments for the next two weeks.
  However, there is no documentary evidence that this April 5, 2004 plan was timely provided to the employer.  Dr. Ross testified at hearing that his office files and serves treatment plans, typically, within seven days of the services creating the need to do so.  The employee asserts that the Act allows three days for delivery by mail so that the treatment plan was due 17 days after April 5, 2004 or April 22, 2004, but we find there is no evidence Dr. Ross filed his April 5, 2004 Amended Treatment Plan with the Board or mailed it to the employer.  We find the treatment plan was due to be provided to the employer by April 19, 2004.  Dr. Ross’ April 16, 2004 Physician’s Report, received by the adjuster on April 21, 2004, described a plan to treat the employee “five times a week for the first 2 weeks there after 3x week till 50% improved.”
  The April 16, 2004 report did not explain why this frequency of treatment was needed.  This same plan was included in Dr. Ross’ April 23, 2004 Physician’s Report with additional comments, including the results of MRI reports and that, “We faxed amended treatment plan asking for 4 extra dates of treatment due to difficulties patient is experiencing.” apparently referring to the April 5, 2004 Amended Treatment Plan.
  The record indicates that on April 23, 2004, the Amended Treatment Plan was faxed to the adjuster.  We find, based on the documentary record, that the Amended Treatment Plan was first provided to the employer on April 23, 2004.  We find this was four days late.  

We find the second Amended Treatment Plan prepared by Dr. Ross dated July 16, 2004, provided no explanation of when the extra days of treatment would be, how long they would last, what the treatment objectives were, nor the modalities of treatment.   As the previous April 5, 2004 plan was only for two weeks, the July 16, 2004 plan should have been provided in late April or early May 2004.  Accordingly, we find the July 16, 2004 Amended Treatment Plan also was not timely.

Further, we find Dr. Ross’ April 5, 2004 and July 16, 2004 treatment plans and his subsequent physician reports insufficient to comply with the strict requirements of AS 23.30.095(c) and 8 AAC 45.082(f), to establish a valid treatment plan.  We find these statutes are mandatory and non-discretionary.  In Gomes v. Klukwan Forest Products,
 the Board held that:

We believe a treatment plan should contain enough detail to allow employees, employers, and their insurers to know quite clearly the nature of the treatments to be provided, the estimated duration of treatment, what benefits are to be gained from the modalities of treatment selected, and especially why treatment which exceeds the frequency of treatment standards is required.  If detailed information is not provided, the "treatment plan" could amount to little more than a prescription by a provider authorizing that provider to furnish additional care at an employer's expense.

In Grove v. Alaska Construction and Erectors,
 the Court cited AS 23.30.095(c) and the associated regulations and stated: "We reviewed and upheld these regulations in Chiropractors For Justice v. State, 895 P.2d 962, 965 (Alaska 1995)." The Court also noted in Chiropractors For Justice,
 that one purpose of the statute was "to protect both employers and employees from possibly unscrupulous medical providers who provide needlessly frequent therapy sessions." In Grove, the employee had appealed a Board decision denying medical costs which exceeded the statutory frequency standards. The Court held that the Board cannot allow more frequent treatment without the submission of a treatment plan. 

In Flodin v. JB Services,
 the Board denied chiropractic treatments that exceed the frequency standard because the medical records in the Board's file failed to provide enough detail and justification for the frequency of treatment. The Board went on to cite the Alaska Supreme Court decision of Crawford & Company v. Baker-Withrow,
 where the Court held "that the Board should exclude the employer from liability for therapeutic sessions in excess of the frequency standards, absent a valid treatment plan." 

In Lopez v. Anchorage School District,
 the Board held that a provider must be patient-specific in preparing treatment plans, and that the plans must identify the body part being worked on, and the desired change. In Burke v. Houston Nana, LLC,
 the Board stated: "We find that the standards that are set forth in the 8 AAC 45.082(f) cannot be waived, nor does the Board have discretion to award benefits for treatment outside the limits of the frequency standards absent compliance with the requirements of AS 23.30.095(c)." 

On the instant matter, we find that in all of the treatment plans from April 23, 2004, through the final report on February 9, 2006, Dr. Ross indicates the same frequency of treatments to be administered, but not the duration other than “until 50% improved.”  As far as the modalities to be administered during treatment, the Physician Report forms submitted by Dr. Ross all have the same statement which reads: "Ultra /High Volt Galvanism to the low CX, THX, Lx spine followed by activator adjustments." We find additional comments were attached by Dr. Ross to his physician reports but these did not constitute any kind of comprehensive plan.  We find this repeated, generic statement, incorporates multiple modalities, without any specific information as to the nature, objective or duration of the treatment to be rendered as required by AS 23.30.090(c). 

We find all of the “treatment plans” the employee asserts are included in Dr. Ross’ physician reports are lacking adequate explanations, reasons, or justifications, as to why treatment in excess of the frequency standards was required.  As noted by the Board in Gomes, absent detailed information, Dr. Ross’ treatment plans are nothing more than prescriptions authorizing him to furnish additional care at the employer's expense, without having to provide any basis for the excessive treatment.  We find these “treatment plans” do not contain enough detail and justification to be considered valid, and are not sufficiently patient specific.  We find any applicable additional comments regarding visit specific information, Dr. Ross noted on his separate attachment to his reports, are also insufficient.  Thus, we find that the claims for any unpaid benefits for treatment that exceeds the frequency standard, as outlined in 
8 AAC 45.082(f), must be denied.  Even had we found that the April 5, 2004 Amended Treatment Plan created a timely viable treatment plan, we find that by its own terms, it expired after two weeks.  We additionally find the July 16, 2004 Amended Treatment Plan was inaccurate in its apparent explanation of the applicable frequency standard,
 lacking in information necessary to comply with AS 23.30.095(c), and untimely.
Moreover, we find the employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the requirement contained in 8 AAC 45.082(g)(2) that Dr. Ross’ treatments improved or were likely to improve the employee's conditions.  We find that although the employee and Dr. Ross testified in support of the effectiveness of Dr. Ross’ treatment, the employee’s complaints continued through her last visit to Dr. Ross in February 2006.  We find the information the employee provided to Drs. Williams, Leadbetter, Lazar, Schleimer, Barrington and Blackwell all indicated continuing symptoms, despite receiving over 100 chiropractic treatments from Dr. Ross.  Additionally, the employee was treated by Dr. Ross over 20 times after Dr. Schleimer opined in his February 3, 2005 SIME report that he did not believe additional chiropractic care would benefit the employee.

Further we find the employee has failed to prove the requirement contained in 8 AAC 45.082(g)(3) that a preponderance of the medical evidence supports a conclusion that the board's frequency standards are unreasonable, considering the nature of the employee's injury.  Our regulations are designed to encompass treatments for injuries that range from minor to usual or average.
  Dr. Ross testified that treatments in excess of the frequency standards were required due to the multiple injuries the employee incurred, her difficulties in healing, and the need to coordinate treatment with other treating physicians.  We find the employee’s injuries resulting from the March 30, 2004 slip and fall, were not extraordinary.  The employee suffered no fractures or major internal injuries.  We find the type of injuries incurred by the employee to be within the range of injuries the frequency standard was intended to include.  We find that while the employee was treated for multiple medical issues, the treatments and surgeries were of average complexity.  We find that, while the employee’s subsequent surgeries did increase the complexity of the employee’s overall medical treatment, they do not justify exceeding the frequency standards by over twice the allowed amount.  We find many of the treatments in excess of the standard occurred prior to any of the employee’s surgeries.  Additionally, we find Dr. Ross’ chart notes do not indicate that the excessive number of treatments was necessitated by the surgeries.  We conclude that the employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of the medical evidence that the board's frequency standards are unreasonable considering the nature of the employee's injury.  We base our conclusion on the opinion of Dr. Schleimer that additional chiropractic care would not benefit the employee, Dr. Ross’ chart notes, the nature of the employee’s injuries, and the nature of medical treatment the employee received.

The employee argued that the employer should be estopped from now asserting a frequency standards defense because it did not specifically object to Dr. Ross’ billings until its July 25, 2005 controversion, and did not specifically mention the frequency of treatments until its December 14, 2006 controversion, which was after Dr. Ross completed his care for the employee.  The Court in Grove, however, held that there was nothing in the statute or regulations that would support a contention that frequency standards may be waived, even if the claim was initially controverted. In Grove,
 the employee argued that the carrier, by failing to object, impliedly authorized the treatments.  The Court found: "The statute is clear that it is the employee's health care provider who must take steps if the statutory frequency of that treatment is exceeded."
  The fact that the employer voluntarily or erroneously paid for treatments in excess of the frequency standards prior to its controversions does not obligate the employer to pay for treatments in perpetuity; the employer is not equitably estopped from now asserting its legal rights.
  

In the instant matter, we find Dr. Ross is an experienced chiropractor in Alaska, and is well aware of the procedural requirements for filing a treatment plan for treatment that exceeds the frequency standards.  We find no “manifest injustice” as described in 8 AAC 45.195, will result from our application of the requirements of AS 23.30.095(c) in the instant matter.  We conclude the employer is not liable for any unpaid chiropractic treatments or services provided by Dr. Ross and shall deny his claim.   As Dr. Ross has not prevailed on his claim, his associated claims for penalty and interest are also denied. 

VII. INTEREST
AS 23.30.155 (p) provides:

(p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due. Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in 
AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.
8 AAC 45.142   governing the payment of interest, states, in relevant part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred aon or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The employer shall pay the interest…(3) on late-paid medical benefits to (A) the employee…, if the employee has paid the provider or medical benefits;…(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

AS 23.30.155(p) and the Board’s regulation, 8 AAC 45.142, requires that if compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at a statutory rate from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  The statutory rate is prescribed in 
AS 9.30.070(a).  The courts have consistently instructed the Board to award interest to claimants for the time value of money, as a matter of course.  The Board finds the employee was not paid benefits to which she was entitled and interest is due.  Accordingly, we will award interest to the employee, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on all unpaid PPI benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due.  Additionally, we will award interest to the employee and/or medical providers as appropriate for any late payments for the employee’s additional medical benefits. 

VIII. PENALTIES

AS 23.30.155 concerns payment of compensation.  Subsection (b) provides:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days, except where the board determines that payment in installments should be made monthly or at some other period. 

Subsection (d) provides:  

If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death. If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. When payment of temporary disability benefits is controverted solely on the grounds that another employer or another insurer of the same employer may be responsible for all or a portion of the benefits, the most recent employer or insurer who is party to the claim and who may be liable shall make the payments during the pendency of the dispute. When a final determination of liability is made, any reimbursement required, including interest at the statutory rate, and all costs and attorneys' fees incurred by the prevailing employer, shall be made within 14 days of the determination. 

Subsection (e) provides:

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

AS 23.30.041(k) provides in relevant part:

. . . If an employee reaches medical stability before completion of the plan, temporary total disability benefits shall cease and permanent impairment benefits shall then be paid at the employee's temporary total disability rate. . . . A permanent impairment benefit remaining unpaid upon the completion or termination of the plan shall be paid to the employee in a single lump sum. An employee may not be considered permanently totally disabled so long as the employee is involved in the rehabilitation process under this chapter. . . .

8 AAC 45.065 provides in relevant part:
(c) After a prehearing the board or designee will issue a summary of the actions taken at the prehearing, the amendments to the pleadings, and the agreements made by the parties or their representatives. The summary will limit the issues for hearing to those that are in dispute at the end of the prehearing. Unless modified, the summary governs the issues and the course of the hearing. 

(d) Within 10 days after service of a prehearing summary issued under (c) of this section, a party may ask in writing that a prehearing summary be modified or amended by the designee to correct a misstatement of fact or to change a prehearing determination. The party making a request to modify or amend a prehearing summary shall serve all parties with a copy of the written request. . . 

8 AAC 45.070(g) provides:
Except when the board or its designee determines that unusual and extenuating circumstances exist, the prehearing summary, if a prehearing was conducted and if applicable, governs the issues and the course of the hearing.

The employee claims a 25 percent penalty on all PPI previously paid on the basis that it was not paid in a timely fashion as a lump sum.  We find the employee asserted a claim for reemployment benefits in her amended WCC filed August 17, 2004.
  The board finds the employer initially paid PPI benefits biweekly “at the employee’s temporary total disability rate” under AS 23.30.041(k).
  We find that prior to the December 18, 2006 prehearing conference; prehearing conference summaries had identified reemployment benefits as an issue in this matter.
  The employee asserts any claim for reemployment benefits was withdrawn on October 9, 2006, when the employee’s counsel filed an objection to and requested modification of the October 2, 2006 prehearing conference summary.  We find the December 18, 2006 prehearing conference summary deleted reemployment benefits from the employee’s claims for benefits.  We find that while the December 18, 2006 prehearing conference summary does not provide an explanation, it does specifically state the employee’s WCC was “Amended at the 12/18/06 PH.”  The Board finds the remaining 13 percent PPI benefit was paid in a lump sum on December 27, 2006, nine days later.
 

We find that under 8 AAC 45.065(c) and .070(g), until the December 18, 2006 prehearing conference summary was issued, the employee’s claims and issues presented at any future hearing remained as identified in the October 2, 2006 prehearing conference summary.  Although the Act at 8 AAC 45.065(d) provides for parties filing requests for amendment of prehearing summaries, the Act does not provide that the mere filing of such a request constitutes an amendment or modification.  If the parties were free to make their own amendments, such changes could frequently conflict and the Board would have no control over the process.  There is no evidence the prehearing officer modified or amended the issues identified at the October 2, 2006 prehearing until the subsequent December 18, 2006 prehearing conference summary was issued.   We conclude the employee’s withdrawal of her claim for reemployment benefits was effective with the December 18, 2006 prehearing conference summary and the employer had 14 days following that date to pay the remaining PPI.  We conclude the employer’s payment on December 27, 2006, complied with this requirement and that accordingly no penalty is owed under AS 23.30.155.  We shall deny the employee’s claim for a penalty.
IX. ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Under AS 23.30.260 the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with our approval.  The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

We consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, when determining reasonable attorney fees for successful prosecution of claims.
  Further, the award of attorney fees must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings.  
As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

Under AS 23.30.260 the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with our approval.  In this case, we find the payment of the benefits claimed by the employee was resisted by the action of the employer.
  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee and legal costs under subsection AS 23.30.145.  We found the employee’s claims for additional TTD benefits, PPI benefits, medical benefits and interest compensable.  Consequently, we can award fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b).
  

The employee’s attorney has filed multiple attorney’s fees affidavits in this matter.  The employer argues that charges related to the neuropsychological issues should be excluded and requests we reduce any award of employee’s attorney’s fees based on what issues, if any, the employee prevails.  On May 7, 2008, the employee filed a Reply to the employer’s April 16, 2008 opposition arguing that charges related to the neuropsychological issues had not been included in the requested fees.  The employee asserted that “many of the referenced documents are not available to the board for review so that the board can make its own determination because they were not of the type normally filed with the board or in some cases were not documents at all.” 
   On May 29, 2008, the employer filed a response asserting that only statutory attorney’s fees should be awarded.  

We find the employee is entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees in this matter.  We find however, that under AS 23.30.135(a), to best ascertain the rights of the parties, we will require additional evidence that is not currently in the administrative record.  This evidence includes documents not typically filed with the Board
 and oral argument.  We find that rather than attempting to proceed to decide this issue at this time, it is preferable to allow the parties the opportunity to resolve this issue themselves, now that we have decided the substantive issues in the instant matter.  We will retain jurisdiction over the employee’s claim for attorney’s fees and costs.  If the parties cannot reach an agreement to submit to us for approval they may schedule this issue for a hearing.
ORDER

1. The employee’s claim for additional TTD benefits for the period September 8, 2004 through October 11, 2004 under AS 23.30.185, is denied and dismissed.

2. The employee’s claim for additional PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190, is granted.  The employer shall pay the employee $14,160.00, the difference between the 13 percent PPI benefit previously paid and the 21 percent PPI rating.

3. The employee’s claim for additional medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a), is granted. The employer shall pay for medical services provided to the employee, to which she was entitled under the Act.  The Board shall retain jurisdiction over this matter to resolve any discrepancies that may arise between the parties.

4. Provider Dr. Ross’ claim for additional payment for medical services provided to the employee under AS 23.30.095(a) is denied and dismissed.

5. The employee’s claim for penalties on previously paid PPI under AS 23.30.155(f), is denied and dismissed. 

6. The employer shall pay the employee interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all unpaid PPI benefits.

7. The employer shall pay interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on the additional medical benefits ordered herein.

8. The Board retains jurisdiction over the employee’s claim for attorney’s fees and costs.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on June 30, 2008.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained from the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JUDITH LEWIS-WALUNGA employee / applicant and WILLIAM ROSS, D.C., physician / applicant; v. MUNICIPALITY OF ANCHORAGE, self-insured employer / defendant; Case No. 200403809; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on June 30, 2008.

______________________________________






Gail Rucker, Administrative Supervisor 

�








� 12/16/88 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI).


� 5/26/89 Controversion.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 42-43.


� 4/5/89 date-stamped Application for Employment.


� 5/10/89 Pre-employment Health Questionnaire.


� 12/4/03 MOA Notification of Employee Status New Hires and Other Changes in Status (NES).


� 8/7/05 Arbitrator’s Opinion and Award.


� 2/6/04 J. Sample letter.


� 3/16/04 P. Griffith letter.


� 4/2/04 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga Deposition at 55.


� 3/31/04 Anchorage Fire Department Prehospital Care Report.


� Id.


� 3/31/04 PAMC Emergency Room Note.


� 3/31/04 radiology consultations.


� Computerized Axial Tomography (CT) or CAT Scan.


� 3/31/04 head CT radiology consultation.


� 3/31/04 PAMC Emergency Record.


� 4/1/04 Dr. Ross chart note.


� 4/1/04 Disability Certificate.


� 4/5/04 Amended Treatment Plan.


� 4/21/04 Physician’s Report.


� 4/23/04 Physician’s Report.


� 4/23/04, 4/30/04, 5/14/04, and 5/21/04 Dr. Ross Physician’s Reports.


� 6/4/04, 6/11/04, 7/2/04, 7/9/04, 7/16/04, 7/21/04, 8/11/04, 8/18/04, 8/26/04, 9/1/04, 9/9/04, 9/21/04, 10/7/04, 11/17/04, 12/23/04, 1/26/05, 2/3/05, 2/10/05, 2/16/05, 2/24/05, 3/3/05, 3/10/05, 4/14/05, 4/21/05, 5/5/05, 5/12/05, 5/19/05, 5/26/05, 6/23/05,12/6/05, and 2/9/06 Dr. Ross Physician’s Reports.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 41.


� 8/7/05 Arbitrator’s Opinion and Award at 6.


� 6/1/04 Dr. Barrington notes.


� Electromyogram, a graphic record of the electrical activity of a muscle.


� 6/9/04 Dr. Barrington report.


� 6/10/04 Dr. Moore letter.


� 6/25/04 Drs. Leadbetter and Williams Employer’s Medical Evaluation (“EME”).


� 7/6/04 MRI report.


� 7/15/04 Controversion.


� 7/16/04 Amended Treatment Plan.


� 7/21/04 WWC.


� 8/10/04 Dr. Moore operative report.


� 8/16/04 Answer.


� 8/17/04 WWC.


� 8/25/04 Dr. Craig evaluation.


� 4/1/04, 4/6/04, 4/13/04, 4/19/04, 4/26/04, 5/5/04, 5/11/04, 6/30/04, 7/12/04, and 7/26/04 Dr. Ross Disability Certificates.


� Dr. Ross Physician’s Reports.


� 9/8/04 Dr. Moore letter.


� 9/10/04 Answer.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 55.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 41.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 87.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 88.


� 10/12/04 Dr. Moore operative report.


� 11/23/04 Dr. Moore chart note.


� 12/28/04 Dr. Moore chart note.


� 1/18/05 Dr. Lazar SIME.


� 2/3/05 Dr. Schleimer SIME.


� 2/22/05 Dr. Ross Disability Certificate.


� 3/14/05 Dr. Moore report.


� 4/26/05 Dr. Moore chart note.


� 5/5/05 Dr. Ross Physician’s Report.


� 5/10/05, 5/26/06, 6/14/05, 8/16/05, 9/21/05, 12/06/05, and 2/9/06 Dr. Ross Physician’s Reports.


� 5/20/05 Dr. Moore work release note.


� 7/05/05 Dr. Moore work release note.


� Although the arbitrator’s decision is dated 8/7/05, it indicates a hearing was held on 4/20/06.


� 8/7/05 Arbitrator’s Opinion and Award at 6.


� 9/6/05 Dr. Moore chart notes and work release note.


� 12/5/05 Dr. Barrington evaluation.


� 12/8/05 Dr. Klecan evaluation.


� 12/8/05 Dr. Williams and Leadbetter evaluation.


� 12/20/05 Dr. Moore chart note.


� 2/9/06 Dr. Ross Physician’s Report.


� 6/16/06 Dr. Leadbetter letter.


� 6/16/06 Dr. Williams letter.


� 12/27/06 Compensation Report.


� 10/2/06 Prehearing Conference Summary.


� 10/9/06 Objection to and Request for Modification of 10/2/06 Prehearing Conference Summary.


� 12/13/06 T. Heikes letter.


� 12/18/06 Prehearing Conference Summary.


� 12/27/06 Compensation Report.


� 1/30/07 Dr. Moore letter.


� 4/13/07 Arbitrator’s Opinion and Award.


� 5/21/07 Dr. Binder evaluation.


� 7/2/07 WCC.


� 8/2/07 Controversion.


� Dr. Craig deposition at 57-58, 65 and 77-79.


� 11/19/07 Prehearing Conference Summary.


� 12/4/07 T. Heikes letter.


� 1/25/08 Dr. Blackwell SIME.


� 2/15/08 Dr. Blackwell letter.


� 3/13/08 Controversion.


� 3/24/ 08 Dr. Leadbetter Deposition at 21.


� 3/24/ 08 Dr. Leadbetter Deposition at 29.


� 3/24/ 08 Dr. Leadbetter Deposition at 34-35.


� 3/24/ 08 Dr. Leadbetter Deposition at 25.


� 3/25/08 Dr. Blackwell Deposition at 41-43.


� Id. at 46-47.


� Id. at 51-52.


� 4/16/08 T. Heikes letter.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 13:40 – 15:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 15:40 – 17:43.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 17:44 – 18:20.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 18:50 – 19:59.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 20:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 21:05 – 24:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 24:55 – 25:55.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 26:00 – 31:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 37:50 – 40:45.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 40:45 – 42:30.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 50:20.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 1 at 1:00:10 – 1:07:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 12:50 –14:55.


� Hearing Exhibit 7.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 17:00 –19:30.


� Hearing Exhibit 8.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 19:30 –21:40.


� 4/14/89 Compensation Report and 5/24/89 Controversion. See also 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 21:40 –23:15.


� Hearing Exhibit 11.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 23:30 –25:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 25:40-27:30. 


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 27:35 –32:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 32:45 –39:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 40:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 42:45 –44:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 44:05 –46:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 47:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 56:00 –57:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 47:43-48:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 48:24 –48:54.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 48:54 –49:35.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 50:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 50:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 51:30 –52:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 52:50 –55:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 1:00:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 1:00:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 2 at 1:01:20.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 1:15-4:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 4:00-6:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 6:00-9:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 10:30.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 12:40-15:10.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 15:10.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 15:45.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 16:10.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 16:20.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 17:30.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 19:00-25:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 26:20.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 1:03:05.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 1:03:30.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 27:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 15:10.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 28:06-33:18.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 33:20.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 34:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 37:00-42:10.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 1:06:05.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 42:10-1:00:30.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 3 at 1:07:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 00:15-3:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 3:55-5:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 5:00-6:57.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 7:30-8:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 8:40-9:45.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 9:45.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 10:51-13:04.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 13:04-17:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 17:30-19:25.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 19:25-20:10.


� 2/6/04 AWWU memorandum, Hearing exhibit 2.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 20:10.


� 3/16/04 AWWU memorandum, Hearing exhibit 4.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 20:10-25:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 25:50-29:10.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 30:15.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 34:55-37:55.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 37:56-39:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 1:03:25-1:04:30.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 1:04:30-1:06:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 43:10-44:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 44:00-46:18.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 46:20-47:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 47:50-50:00.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 50:00-55:25.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 55:25-56:55.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 56:55-57:15.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 57:20-59:21.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 4 at 59:21-1:02:30.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 00:40-2:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 2:50.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 4:50-5:35.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 5:35.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 6:02.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 8:40.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 9:55-11:25.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 11:25.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 14:20-16:38.


� 4/1/08 Hearing recording Part 5 at 20:20-21:15.





� Not yet completed or effective.


� 989 P.2d 727 (Alaska 1999).


� Hearing exhibit 13.


� 4/20/06 Arbitrator’s Opinion and Award.


� Dr. Ross’ 4/7/08  revised itemized statement claimed for $7,848.50 and included charges not previously included in his billings to the employer.  On 4/16/08 the employer objected to the consideration of these additional amounts as not in evidence at the 4/1/08 hearing or lacking corresponding chart notes.  On 4/18/08, Dr. Ross accepted the employer’s objection to all but one charge for services on 9/4/07 for $80.00.  We calculate Dr. Ross’ remaining claim to total $7,223.50.


� Hearing exhibits 7 – 10.


� Hearing exhibits 12a, 12b, and 12c.


� Hearing Exhibits 1 - 6.  


� 948 P.2d 454 (Alaska 1997).


� 922 P.2d 268 (Alaska 1996).


� 895 P.2d 962 (Alaska 1995).


� 3/4/08 Employer’s Witness List.


� 3/3/08 Employee’s Witness List.  


� 758 P.2d 1271 (Alaska 1988).


� Id. at 1277-1278.


� � HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW8.06&referencepositiontype=S&serialnum=1989082961&fn=_top&sv=Split&referenceposition=517&findtype=Y&tc=-1&ordoc=1995107742&db=661&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=Alaska" \t "_top" �DeNardo v. Municipality of Anchorage, 775 P.2d 515, 517 (Alaska)�, cert. denied, � HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW8.06&serialnum=1989139317&fn=_top&sv=Split&tc=-1&findtype=Y&ordoc=1995107742&db=708&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=Alaska" \t "_top" �493 U.S. 922, 110 S.Ct. 287, 107 L.Ed.2d 267 (1989)�.


� � HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW8.06&referencepositiontype=S&serialnum=1984101726&fn=_top&sv=Split&referenceposition=571&findtype=Y&tc=-1&ordoc=1995107742&db=708&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=Alaska" \t "_top" �United States v. Mendoza, 464 U.S. 154, 159 n. 4, 104 S.Ct. 568, 571 n. 4, 78 L.Ed.2d 379 (1984)�.


� � HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW8.06&referencepositiontype=S&serialnum=1987104087&fn=_top&sv=Split&referenceposition=1153&findtype=Y&tc=-1&ordoc=1995107742&db=661&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=Alaska" \t "_top" �Murray v. Feight, 741 P.2d 1148, 1153 (Alaska 1987)�.





� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 55.


� 2/26/07 Request for Cross-Examination.


� 2/19/08 Request for Cross-Examination.


� The Alaska Supreme Court addressed cross-examination in the workers’ compensation setting in Commercial Union Companies v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).  The Court reiterated “the statutory right to cross-examination is absolute and applicable to the Board.”  Id. at 1265.  


� 12/20/05 Dr. Moore chart note.


� AWCAC Decision No. 045 (June 6, 2007).  


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-474 (Alaska 1991).


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989);  Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  


� Louisiana Pacific Corp., at 1381  (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).  See also, Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� Veco, 693 P.2d at 869.


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.


� Id. at 869.  


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� Thornton v. AWCB, 411 P.2d, 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).


� United Asphalt Paving v. Smith, 660 P.2d 445, 447 (Alaska 1983).


� 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).


� 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996). 


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 87-88.


� 9/1/04, 9/9/02, 9/21/04, and 10/7/04 Dr. Ross Physician Reports.


� 9/8/04 Dr. Moore letter.


� 9/8/04 Dr. Moore letter.


� 10/11/04 J. Lewis-Walunga deposition at 41.


� “AMA Guides,” 5th Ed.


� See, e.g., Jarrard v. Nana Regional Corp., AWCB Decision No. 90-0299 (December 14, 1990).  


� Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279.


� Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment Fifth Edition, Section 16.7b at 505.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).


� Adamson v. University of Alaska, 819 P.2d 886, 894 (Alaska 1991).


� See Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 731 (Alaska 1999).


� 4/16/08 T. Heikes letter.


� 884 P.2d 156, 161 (Alaska 1994)


� Id.


� 4/7/08 Dr. Ross revised itemized statement, 4/16/08 employer’s Objection to Additional Charges, and 4/18/08 Dr. Ross letter in response to objection.


� 4/7/08 Dr. Ross revised itemized statement and Employer’s Closing Brief Exhibit P.


� 8 AAC 45.082


� See Terrill v. Landis & Gry Powers, AWCB Decision No. 01-0059 (April 4, 2001) at 6-7.


� 4/5/04 Amended Treatment Plan.


� 4/16/04 Dr. Ross Physician’s Report.


� 4/23/04 Dr. Ross Physician’s Report.


� AWCB Decision No. 95-0114 (April 26, 1995).


� 948 P.2d 454 (Alaska 1997).


� Id. at 966.


� AWCB Decision No. 04-0047 (February 27, 2004).


� 73 P.3d 1227 (Alaska 2003).


� AWCB Decision No. 89-0325 (December 13, 1989).


� AWCB Decision No. 03-0242 (October 3, 2003).


� The 7/16/04 Amended Treatment Plan implied the normal frequency was three times per week and proposed one additional treatment per week, but since the treatments began more than three months previous, normal frequency was actually one per week.


� 2/3/05 Dr. Schleimer SIME and 4/7/08 Dr. Ross revised itemized statement.


� Jones v. Price Savers Membership Warehouse, AWCB Decision No. 88-0343 (December 13, 1988).


� 948 P.2d at 457.


� Id.


� See Dodd v. Matthisen, AWCB Decision No. 07-0354 (November 21, 2007) at 9.


� Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).


� 8/17/04 WCCs.


� 12/27/06 Compensation Report.


� 1/23/06, 4/19/06, 8/21/06, and 10/2/06 Prehearing Conference Summaries.


� 12/27/06 Compensation Report.


� 53 P.3d 134,147 (Alaska 2002).


� See, e.g., Thompson v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., AWCB Decision No. 98-0315 (December 14, 1998).


� Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971,975 (Alaska 1986).


� Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).


� Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978); Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1190 (Alaska 1993).


� 5/7/08 Reply of Employee.


� Id.
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